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Message from 
the Superintendent

I am very proud to present you with OSFI’s 2021-22 Annual Report. 

OSFI’s purpose is to ensure that financial institutions and pension plans are regulated 
by an office of the Government of Canada so as to contribute to public confidence in the 
Canadian financial system. We fulfill that purpose by pursuing our objects, which call on 
OSFI to:

•   Supervise federally-regulated financial institutions and pension plans to ensure they 
are in sound financial condition;

•  Promptly advise the management and boards of directors of financial institutions, and 
the administrators of pension plans, in the event their organizations are not in sound 
financial condition or otherwise are not complying with governing statutes and/or 
supervisory requirements;

•  Take necessary corrective measures in response to a failure to remain in sound 
financial condition or otherwise comply with governing statutes and or supervisory 
requirements;

•  Promote the adoption by management and boards of directors of financial institutions, 
and the administrators of pension plans, of policies and procedures designed to control 
and manage risk; and

•  Monitor and evaluate system-wide or sectoral events or issues that may have a 
negative impact on the financial condition of financial institutions. 

In pursuing our objects, OSFI takes a balanced approach that protects depositors, 
policyholders, creditors, and pension plan beneficiaries while respecting financial 
institutions’ responsibility to compete and take risks.

This Annual Report will demonstrate just how we went about fulfilling our purpose and 
pursuing our objects over the past year.

We have organized this year’s report a little differently, as it presents an opportunity to 
account for the successful completion of OSFI’s 2019-2022 Strategic Plan and, more 
importantly, shift our risk focus to the risks on OSFI’s horizon.

Therefore, we detail the results we achieved in 2021-22 as organized according to the 
four goals in our 2019-22 Strategic Plan. I would like to thank my predecessor, Jeremy 
Rudin, for leading our organization with integrity and distinction over the past seven 
years. This Annual Report also provides a window into how the COVID-19 pandemic 

https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/Docs/strpln1920.pdf
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/Docs/strpln1920.pdf
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Message from the Superintedent [continued]

affected our operations and those of the institutions we oversee.

Although we are proud of the accomplishments outlined in this report, OSFI has turned 
its attention to a horizon populated by risks which will challenge OSFI and the financial 
institutions and pension plans it supervises.  

Those dynamic risks include the digitalization of money, the intensifying prudential 
implications of climate change, and the economic and financial challenges brought on by an 
unexpected global pandemic and its aftermath. Moreover, there remains risks beyond the 
horizon, not yet in view, towards which OSFI must remain vigilant.

How will OSFI address that threatening risk environment moving forward? 

Our work is already underway. This past November, we launched our Blueprint for 
Transformation, which provides an updated vision for OSFI through 2025. Shortly 
thereafter, we released a roadmap for how we’ll get there: a new, updated Strategic Plan. 

The goals, priorities, and concrete actions outlined in these initiatives ensure we will 
continue to deliver on our most important work: contributing to Canadians’ confidence in 
their financial system.

I look forward to providing you with an update on all of that work in 2023.

Thank you,

Peter Routledge

https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/osfi-bsif/rep-rap/Pages/bl-pd.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/osfi-bsif/rep-rap/Pages/bl-pd.aspx
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About OSFI

The Office of the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions (OSFI) is an independent federal 
government agency that regulates and supervises 
federally regulated financial institutions and pension 
plans to determine whether they are in sound 
financial condition and meeting requirements. 
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Our mandate focuses on four elements as outlined below. In fulfilling our mandate, 
we support the government’s objective of contributing to public confidence in the 
Canadian financial system.

Fostering sound risk management and governance practices
We advance a regulatory framework designed to control and manage risk.

Supervision and early intervention
We supervise federally regulated financial institutions (FRFIs) and federally 
regulated pension plans (FRPPs) to ensure they are in sound financial condition 
and meet regulatory and supervisory requirements.

We notify financial institutions and pension plans if there are material deficiencies. 

If there are, we take or order corrective action to quickly address the situation.

Environmental scanning linked to safety and soundness of 
financial institutions
We monitor and evaluate system-wide or sectoral developments that may affect 

the financial condition of FRFIs.

Taking a balanced approach
We act to protect the rights and interests of depositors, policyholders, financial 
institution creditors and pension plan beneficiaries.

We consider financial institutions’ need to compete effectively and take 
reasonable risks.

We recognize that an organization’s management, boards of directors and pension 
plan administrators are accountable for all risk decisions. We recognize that 
financial institutions can fail, and pension plans can experience financial difficulties 
resulting in the loss of benefits.

Mandate

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada | Annual Report 2021-2022 | 8
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Office of the Chief Actuary

The Office of the Chief Actuary (OCA) is an 
independent unit within OSFI that provides a range 
of actuarial valuation and advisory services to the 
Government of Canada. The OCA’s mandate is 
to conduct statutory actuarial valuations as well 
valuations for Public Accounts Canada of the Canada 
Pension Plan (CPP), Old Age Security (OAS) program, 
federal public sector employee pension and insurance 
plans, Employment Insurance premium rate, and the 
Canada Student Financial Assistance Program. These 
valuations estimate the financial status of these plans 
and programs as required by legislation. 

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada | Annual Report 2021-2022 | 10
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OSFI BY THE NUMBERS

Over

FRFIs regulated and 
supervised by OSFI

400

Approx.

FRPPs regulated and 
supervised by OSFI

1200

Over

new FRFIs transactions 
and business undertakings 

were approved

140

actuarial reports or studies 
prepared by the Office of 

the Chief Actuary

18

Over

OSFI employees

960

new or revised guidance 
documents released

9

interactive events that 
brought OSFI colleagues 

together to engage in 
inclusion issues

13
external  

engagements

50
Over
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OSFI BY THE NUMBERS

news releases and media 
advisories issued

17

new pension plans were 
approved for registration

13
FRFI supervisory reviews  

were conducted

130
Over

offices located in 
Ottawa, Montreal, 

Toronto, and Vancouver

4
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OUR ACCOMPLISHMENTS

In March 2019, we released our 2019-22 Strategic Plan. The plan proposed an 
ambitious set of goals to help us thrive as a regulator in an increasingly complex 
financial system. 

During 2019-22, dynamic new risks like the digitalization of money and climate 
change, combined with challenges brought on by an unexpected global pandemic, 
illustrated the need for strong financial regulation in Canada. Although the 
Strategic Plan was finalized before the COVID-19 pandemic took hold, we adapted 
our plan to include our internal response and the measures we took to mitigate its 
effects on Canada’s financial sector. 

As we bring the 2019-22 Strategic Plan to a close, we know that our actions 
contributed to FRFIs maintaining the financial strength required to meet their 
obligations to policyholders, depositors, and other creditors. In doing so, we 
delivered on the main goal of OSFI’s mandate: contributing to public confidence in 
the Canadian financial system. 

This Annual Report details the results we achieved in 2021-22 against the four 
goals in our 2019-22 Strategic Plan:

OUR ACCOMPLISHMENTS

OUR ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Goal 1 (p. 16) 
Federally regulated financial institution 
(FRFI) and pension plan (FRPP) 
preparedness and resilience to financial 
risk is improved, both in normal conditions 
and in the next financial stress event

Goal 3 (p. 28)
Our agility and operational 
effectiveness are improved

Goal 2 (p. 24)
FRFIs and FRPPs are better prepared to 
identify and develop resilience to non-financial 
risks before they negatively affect their 
financial condition

Goal 4 (p. 34)
Support from Canadians and 
cooperation from the financial 
industry are preserved

https://intranet.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/eng/Pages/Strategic-Plan.aspx


2019-2022 Strategic Plan Goals | Goal 1

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada | Annual Report 2021-2022 | 17

Goal 1 
Federally regulated financial 
institution (FRFI) and pension plan 
(FRPP) preparedness and resilience 
to financial risk is improved, both in 
normal conditions and in the next 
financial stress event.

Goal 1 - Federally regulated financial institution (FRFI) and pension plan 
(FRPP) preparedness and resilience to financial risk is improved, both in 
normal conditions and in the next financial stress event.

Through this goal, we ensured FRFIs continued to provide financial services to Canadians and 
maintain market confidence, both in normal conditions and in times of stress. Similarly, we 
ensured pension plans continued to enhance their awareness of emerging risks and related 
risk management processes. This section showcases some of our accomplishments from the 
past year.

Proactively supporting FRFIs and FRPPs in weathering the risks posed by COVID-19
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, we strove to ensure that our guidance remained 
credible, consistent, necessary, and fit for purpose. This work included several regulatory and 
supervisory adjustments to support FRFI financial and operational resilience.

Domestic stability buffer
In June 2021, we announced that OSFI was raising the Domestic Stability Buffer (DSB) 
level from 1.00% to 2.50% of risk weighted assets effective October 31, 2021. The DSB, an 
important policy tool that helps ensure the stability of Canada’s financial system, requires 
Canada’s largest Domestic Systemically Important Banks (D-SIBs) to build up a capital buffer 
as vulnerabilities grow. 

The June 2021 decision was based on the emerging economic recovery from the pandemic and 
the demonstrated resilience in banks’ capital levels. It also considered key vulnerabilities that 
had persisted since the 2020 DSB decision, including high levels of borrower indebtedness.

In December 2021, we maintained the DSB at 2.50%. This decision was based on our 
assessment that system vulnerabilities such as household indebtedness and housing-related 
asset imbalances remained elevated, while near-term risks were moderate and stable. At that 

time, we also committed to reviewing the DSB’s design and range.

Minimum qualifying rate for uninsured mortgages
In April 2021, we published a letter proposing a new qualifying rate for uninsured mortgages 
(i.e., loan-to-value less than 80 percent) and reinforcing the principles of sound mortgage 
underwriting in Guideline B-20 (Residential Mortgage Underwriting Practices and 
Procedures). We received over 170 stakeholder submissions in response to our letter.

Effective June 1, 2021, we confirmed the MQR for all uninsured mortgages should be the 
greater of the mortgage contractual rate plus 200 basis points, or 5.25 percent, and updated 
Guideline B-20.

Following implementation, we closely monitored underwriting criteria like amortization 
periods and debt service limits to prevent circumvention of this revised qualifying rate. In 
December 2021, we confirmed the rate would remain the same. This followed analysis and 
consultation with federal regulatory partners. 

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada | Annual Report 2021-2022 | 16
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Other temporary measures
In August 2021, we announced our intention to unwind a regulatory relief measure related 
to deposit-taking institutions’ (DTIs) leverage. Beginning on January 1, 2022, DTIs were once 
again required to include certain sovereign-issued securities in their leverage ratio exposure 
measures. 

In November 2021, we lifted temporary restrictions on increases to regular dividends, 
common share repurchases, and raises in executive compensation.

Enhancing and aligning assurance expectations on capital, leverage, and liquidity
Regulatory returns are key inputs to the assessment of FRFIs’ safety and soundness. In April 
2021, we released a discussion paper entitled “Assurance on Capital, Leverage and Liquidity 
Returns”. The purpose was to engage FRFIs and other interested stakeholders in a dialogue 
aimed at proactively enhancing and aligning assurance expectations related to key regulatory 
returns. We received feedback on our discussion paper from FRFIs, audit firms, industry, and 
professional associations. 

In March 2022, we issued for public comment the draft guideline, “Assurance on Capital, 
Leverage and Liquidity Returns”. The draft guideline seeks to better inform auditors and 
institutions on OSFI’s expectations related to regulatory returns. This will also enhance and 
align our assurance expectations across all FRFIs.

Preparing for and supporting the robust implementation of new international standards
All FRFIs in Canada are required to follow International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and International Standards on Auditing. Our role at OSFI is to interpret and assess 
international rules that may apply to Canadian financial institutions.

In 2021-22, we worked through the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) and 
the International Association of Insurance Supervisors (IAIS) to provide comment letters and 
verbal feedback on various standards, including:

•  International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) Request for Information on the Third 
Agenda Consultation

•  IASB Request for Information on the Post-implementation Review of IFRS 9 classification 
and measurement requirements

We also supported the IFRS Foundation Constitution Amendments to Accommodate an 
International Sustainability Standards Board to set IFRS Sustainability Standards. We helped 
to improve audit standards and frameworks by:

•  Hosting the 2021 Financial Stability Board (FSB) Roundtable on External Audit. This 
promoted international financial stability by enhancing public confidence in auditors and the 
quality of audits, especially for systemically important financial institutions. 

•  Supporting the development of high-quality audit standards through membership on the 
Public Interest Oversight Board.

The International Financial Reporting Standard 17 (IFRS 17) is an international financial 
accounting standard that was issued by the IASB in May 2017. In June 2021, we launched a 
public consultation on revised draft capital guidelines updated for IFRS 17. At the same time, 
we conducted another quantitative impact study (QIS) to assess insurers’ capital ratios under 

the draft frameworks. This consultation and quantitative testing resulted in enhancements 
to the draft capital guidelines. To further inform final decisions, data calls involving select 
insurers were completed in early 2022. Final versions of the capital guidelines were made 
public in summer 2022.

Improving our understanding of climate-related financial risks 
We advanced our work on several key climate-related initiatives. These included developing 
policy, working collaboratively with the Bank of Canada on a scenario analysis pilot project, 
and expanding our international presence.

On policy development, we summarized and published stakeholder feedback following a 
public consultation on our climate risk discussion paper: “Navigating Uncertainty in Climate 
Change”. Respondents generally supported our focus on climate-related risks, indicating they 
were in the early stages of assessment and quantification. Respondents suggested that these 
risks could be managed through existing governance and risk management frameworks, while 
also recognizing the need to address data-related challenges and further develop scenario 
analysis and stress testing capabilities. In addition, we issued a letter to industry outlining the 
prudential outcomes that we plan to integrate into draft climate risk management guidance.

OSFI and the Bank of Canada concluded a scenario analysis pilot project to assess climate 
transition risks. The work involved six Canadian financial institutions and considered the 
impact of intentionally adverse but plausible climate transition scenarios. The scenarios 
highlighted that meeting climate targets will lead to significant structural changes for the 
Canadian and global economies and that delaying climate policy action increases the overall 
economic impacts and risks to financial stability. OSFI and the Bank of Canada are continuing 
this collaboration to analyze flood risk impacts on residential mortgage portfolios and 
transition risk impacts on wholesale loan and securities portfolios.

Internationally, we continued our work as a member of the BCBS’s high-level task force on 
climate-related financial risks, sharing regulatory and supervisory initiatives with other 
banking regulators. We also expanded our international climate-related presence by joining 
the Network for Greening the Financial System.

Advancing supervisory actions for FRFIs
In 2021-22, our focus remained on ensuring financial institutions were well capitalized and 
resilient, and we continued to adapt supervisory actions and interactions with financial 
institutions to ensure they remained appropriate. Areas of particular focus included loan 
performance, expected credit losses, stress testing and credit risk management practices, 
both from an origination and portfolio management perspective. Our key accomplishments 
included:

•  Conducting enhanced monitoring on regulatory capital models and sensitivity analysis 
assessing the availability of capital buffers under various stress conditions.

•  Completing an Integrated Credit Risk Plan (ICRP) that encompassed real estate secured 
lending, commercial real estate and commercial/corporate workstreams. 

•  Continuing credit quality enhanced monitoring for systemically important banks and large 
and mid-size insurance companies and completing planned Significant Activity Reviews. As 
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well, we worked with the industry to ensure that OSFI’s supervisory expectations around 
combined loan products (CLPs) were clarified.

•  Undertaking stress testing for DTIs, to assess the resiliency of capital positions under 
adverse scenarios. 

•  Conducting various reviews focused on credit risk management practices.

•  Leveraging appointed actuaries’ financial condition testing reports for insurance companies 
to understand how the risk of inflation was being managed by insurers. We also conducted 
sensitivity testing of the impact of a significant drop in equity markets on property and 
casualty insurers. For life insurers, enterprise-wide stress testing was reviewed, and reviews 
were conducted to support capital management assessments.

Advancing our regulation and supervision of FRPPs
We advanced our work in key areas to strengthen our principles and risk-based approach to 
pension plan supervision. In 2021-22, our key accomplishments included:

•  Releasing a consultation paper on Pension Investment Risk Management in March 2022. 
The consultation paper introduced principles for the management of investment risk that we 
believe are relevant for federally regulated pension plans.

•  Collaborating with the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of Ontario (FSRA) on the 
Technical Advisory Committee for the Review of Defined Contribution Plans. In October 
2021, the Committee issued a Summary of Outcomes and Recommendations. In November 
2021, OSFI and FSRA hosted a webinar to share these outcomes and recommendations with 
the pension industry. Through this collaboration, OSFI and FSRA worked towards improving 
outcomes for plan members and enhancing regulatory efficiency and effectiveness for 
defined contribution plans.

•  Consulting with plan administrators and third-party service providers to better understand 
the potential risks associated with pension technology (including cyber and third-party 
risk). Analyzing data collected through a pension technology questionnaire gave us a deeper 
understanding of the nature and level of pension technology risks, as well as the current 
practices used to mitigate these risks. This information will inform our supervisory approach 
to cyber and third-party risk.

•  Advancing our work with Canadian Association of Pension Supervisory Authorities 
(CAPSA) on a principles-based guideline on Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
Considerations in Pension Plan Management. We chaired CAPSA’s ESG Committee and, with 
input from an industry working group, the ESG Committee made significant progress on this 
initiative. 

We also published guidance for pension plans, including:

•  In May 2021, we published final instruction guides for the Termination of a Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan and the Termination of a Defined Contribution Pension Plan. The instruction 
guides included updates that clarified our expectations and reflected amendments made to 
the Assessment of Pension Plans Regulations that came into effect in April 2019.

•  In July 2021, we consulted on the draft revisions to section 2.7.4 of the Instruction Guide for 
the Preparation of Actuarial Reports for Defined Benefit Pension Plans. Section 2.7.4 sets 

out expectations for plans using a replicating portfolio approach. The final instruction guide 
was posted in November 2021.

•  In January 2022, we updated the Instruction Guide for the Solvency Information Return 
(SIR). This guide helps pension plan administrators complete the SIR that they are required 
to file with OSFI.

•  In February 2022, we posted for consultation draft instruction guides for the Registration of 
a Defined Benefit Pension Plan and the Registration of a Defined Contribution Pension Plan. 
The consultation period ended in April and final instruction guides are expected to be posted 
in 2022.

•  In May and November 2021, we published a newsletter called InfoPensions. It included 
announcements and reminders for plan administrators, pension advisors and other 
stakeholders. It also had descriptions of how we apply provisions of pension legislation and 
our guidance.

Promoting sound management practices with FRFIs
Through our supervisory practices and regulation, we play an important oversight role. We 
provide guidance and develop guidelines, policies, and procedures for institutions. These are 
designed to control and manage risk and promote public confidence in the Canadian financial 
system. 

Guidance – Deposit Taking Institutions
In January 2022, we finalized revisions to the Capital Adequacy Requirements (CAR) 
Guideline, Leverage Requirements (LR) Guideline and Liquidity Adequacy Requirements (LAR) 
Guideline. These were prepared for implementation at the beginning of DTIs’ fiscal Q2-2023. 
The final revisions to the CAR and LR guidelines reflect our domestic implementation of the 
final Basel III reforms. All three guidelines also propose revisions to reflect specific capital and 
liquidity requirements for small and medium sized banks (SMSBs).

In January 2022, we also finalized the SMSB Capital and Liquidity Guideline, which helps 
stakeholders understand how the CAR, LR and LAR guidelines apply to SMSBs (including 
deposit-taking subsidiaries of D-SIBs).

Anti-Money Laundering/Anti-Terrorist Financing (AML/ATF)
We rescinded Guideline B-8 (Deterring and Detecting Money Laundering and Terrorist 
Financing) as of July 26, 2021. This supported an initiative by OSFI and the Financial 
Transactions and Reports Analysis Centre of Canada (FINTRAC) to eliminate duplication and 
redundancy in how AML/ATF regulatory requirements are applied to FRFIs.

A joint agency information session on AML/ATF supervision was held for industry in October 
2021 to clarify how OSFI and FINTRAC will work together. We will continue to coordinate and 
share relevant information with FINTRAC, the federal AML/ATF supervisor.

Guideline E-4: Foreign entities Operating in Canada on a branch basis
In June 2021, we issued the final version of Guideline E-4: Foreign Entities Operating in 
Canada on a Branch Basis, which replaced the existing Guideline E-4A Role of the Chief Agent 
and Record Keeping Requirements. Guideline E-4 places greater emphasis on the expectations 

https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/Pages/pppd.aspx
https://www.capsa-acor.org/
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/trm-css/Pages/db_trm.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/trm-css/Pages/db_trm.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/trm-css/Pages/dc_trm.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/af-ac/Pages/actgde.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/af-ac/Pages/actgde.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/afr-emda/Pages/sir_gde.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/afr-emda/Pages/sir_gde.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/app-ptc/Pages/application_guide_db_2022.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/app-ptc/Pages/application_guide_db_2022.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/app-ptc/Pages/application_guide_dc_2022.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/pp-rr/ppa-rra/ifp/Pages/default.aspx
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.osfi-bsif.gc.ca%2FEng%2Ffi-if%2Frg-ro%2Fgdn-ort%2Fgl-ld%2FPages%2Fe4.aspx&data=05%7C01%7CAnna.Stefanovici%40osfi-bsif.gc.ca%7C04460b705d884ff08afb08da8ca230c6%7C43ee04cb3f724918b460c51afaa2943e%7C0%7C0%7C637976925464520294%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=b52dScxbtY0kRdSjQyH2kIH4IrKaxPUDVFOJTo5n%2BDM%3D&reserved=0
https://can01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.osfi-bsif.gc.ca%2FEng%2Ffi-if%2Frg-ro%2Fgdn-ort%2Fgl-ld%2FPages%2Fe4.aspx&data=05%7C01%7CAnna.Stefanovici%40osfi-bsif.gc.ca%7C04460b705d884ff08afb08da8ca230c6%7C43ee04cb3f724918b460c51afaa2943e%7C0%7C0%7C637976925464520294%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=b52dScxbtY0kRdSjQyH2kIH4IrKaxPUDVFOJTo5n%2BDM%3D&reserved=0
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of the foreign entity operating in Canada. It better reflects the responsibilities of the foreign 
entity and its management for overseeing the day-to-day operations of its business in Canada. 
It also reflects new requirements under the Insurance Companies Act that came into force in 
July 2021 governing the location of records.

Capital guidance
We continued to develop a new approach for determining capital requirements for segregated 
fund guarantee risk that will reflect IFRS 17. The new approach will replace the current 
Chapter 7 of the Life Insurance Capital Adequacy Test guideline.

In June 2021, we announced that we were deferring the implementation date of the new 
approach to January 1, 2025 (from January 1, 2023). The deferral will provide more time to 
develop the new approach and help insurers balance their contributions to this important 
project and their implementation of IFRS 17. 

In February 2022, we launched a consultation of the draft approach, a QIS, and sensitivity 
tests. Submissions are due in May 2022, and we will use them to assess whether further 
refinements to the methodology are needed.

Reinsurance
Reinsurance is essentially insurance for insurance companies. A comprehensive review of 
reinsurance practices has been a key OSFI initiative over the past few years. In February 2022, 
final B-3 and B-2 guidelines were issued. These revised guidelines have a three-year transition 
period, coming into effect on January 1, 2025. This gives federally regulated insurers the time 
necessary to adjust their business practices.
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Goal 2 
FRFIs and FRPPs are better 
prepared to identify and develop 
resilience to non-financial risks 
before they negatively affect their 
financial condition.

Goal 2 - FRFIs and FRPPs are better prepared to identify and develop 
resilience to non-financial risks before they negatively affect their 
financial condition.

This section shows how we have advanced our work over the past year to ensure FRFIs and 
FRPPs are resilient to non-financial risks.

Monitoring and issuing guidance in relation to technology risks and digitalization
In 2021-22, we continued to build our capability to respond to technology risk. Technology 
risk, which includes cyber risk, is the risk arising from the inadequacy, disruption, failure, loss 
or malicious use of the information technology systems, infrastructure, people, or processes 
that enable and support business needs. The lack or ineffectiveness of controls to mitigate 
these risks can impact the confidentiality, integrity and availability of data and systems that 
support business services.

In August 2021, we updated our Cyber Self-Assessment tool and refreshed our Technology 
and Cyber Incident Reporting Advisory, supporting an integrated approach to technology and 
cyber security incidents at FRFIs. This enabled us to get better insights and information on 
cyber and technology incidents impacting our institutions. In addition to using this work to 
inform our supervisory and risk management work, we intend to share intelligence with FRFIs 
and our partners.

We also released in November 2021 the draft Guideline B-13 on Technology and Cyber Risk 
Management for a three-month consultation. After receiving feedback from industry, we 
issued the final guideline in early summer 2022.

Advancing supervisory expectations for the use of advanced analytical techniques
Advanced analytics tools such as Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning (AI/ML) are 
gaining momentum in the financial industry. They are used to enhance or create new products 
and services and advance model risk management frameworks. In addition to their benefits 
and opportunities, these advanced techniques give rise to a diverse set of challenges. They can 
exacerbate risks due to complexity, extensive amounts of data, and the speed at which these 
models can change. 

As a result, we continued in 2021-22 to assess how institutions use and manage AI/ML. We 
are also developing additional principles to address emerging risks and challenges resulting 
from the use of this technology by financial institutions. This work is ongoing and will be used 
to inform an industry letter on model risk and advanced analytics, as well as a revised model 
risk guideline, to be published in 2022-23.

Addressing culture risks
An organization’s culture can influence its risk management, potentially leading to excessive 
risk-taking and negative financial and reputational outcomes. We recognize that each FRFI’s 
culture is unique and determined by the institution.  As a prudential regulator, understanding 
the impact of culture can provide an early warning and help prevent or minimize events that 
can weaken an institution’s operational resilience. 
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The pandemic and geopolitical environment highlighted the importance of a culture of 
resilience and management’s role in supporting it. As a member of a global Supervisors’ 
Roundtable on Governance Effectiveness, we participated in an industry workshop called 
Tomorrow’s Leaders of the Financial Sector: Perspectives on Culture Change, Resilience, 
Agility and Continuous Improvement, in April 2021.  

Through 2021-22, we continued to enhance our assessment of culture risks. We formed a 
more comprehensive view of the adequacy and effectiveness of FRFI culture risk management 
by incorporating culture risks in our supervisory reviews and piloting new approaches for 
culture risk monitoring.

Our March 2021 letter on culture risks outlined desired outcomes of effective culture risk 
management, including on dimensions of group dynamics and decision-making and leadership, 
compensation, people management and incentives, accountability and ownership, risk 
mindsets and behaviours, group dynamics and decision-making, and resilience. This will form 
the basis of a principles-based, outcomes-focused culture risk management guideline for 
consultation in late 2022. 

Implementing regulatory and supervisory expectations on operational risk and resilience
Operational resilience, defined as the ability of an institution to deliver critical operations 
during disruption, has emerged as a key priority for financial institutions and regulators in 
recent years. 

In July 2021, we released a letter on operational risk and resilience which underscored 
our view that operational resilience is an important outcome of effective operational risk 
management practices. These include:

•  Articulating risk appetite and setting risk tolerances

•  Identifying critical operations, interconnections, and interdependencies

•  Using scenarios and testing to assess resilience

•  Preventing, responding, adapting, recovering, and learning from operational disruption

Advancing regulatory and supervisory expectations for third party risk
Canadian financial institutions have become increasingly reliant on third parties to deliver 
critical services. As this reliance continues to grow, several trends are emerging, including:

•  An increase in the complexity and interdependency of the third-party’s supply chain, 
including the use of fourth and further parties

•  A rise in the frequency and severity of cyber and other disruptions at third parties or their 
subcontractors

•  An increase in the use of offshore suppliers, augmenting geopolitical risks

•  The emergence of a few critical service providers, elevating the potential that a material 
incident at a dominant-provider results in a disruption across the financial services sector

These trends amplify third-party risk and underscore the importance of FRFIs’ third-party 
risk management frameworks. This includes both the supplier’s and the institution’s business 
continuity and disaster recovery plans, as well as robust third-party contingency planning. We 
developed a revised Guideline B-10, which was released in April 2022.
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Goal 3 - Our agility and operational effectiveness are improved

This section shows how we have ensured we have the right people, skills, and infrastructure 
to meet the needs of the organization and are able to leverage them in a timely and effective 
manner. 

Completing OSFI’s multi-year Human Capital Strategy
Our leadership team believes in investing in human capital. OSFI’s five-year Human Capital 
Strategy (HCS), launched in 2017, provided a framework for how we manage and develop our 
people. The HCS consisted of five priority areas: leadership development; talent management; 
learning and development; culture and community; and enterprise change management. These 
contributed to a culture of high performance that embodies our values of Respect, Curiosity 
and Stewardship, and encourages diversity of thought. The following provides an overview of 
key achievements in 2021-22, which was the last year of implementation of our HCS: 

•  The launch of OSFI’s Wellbeing Strategy and Wellbeing Hub, which aspire to create and 
foster an environment that: promotes healthy living, mental health, and minimizing stigma; 
strives to prevent illness; and supports employees with services, resources, and tools.

•  The implementation of the action plan following the 2020-21 review of our hiring and 
promotion processes and practices, which focused on educating hiring managers, enhancing 
the staffing process, increasing transparency, and improving access and representation. 

•  The creation in May 2021 of the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Unit, which is responsible 
for advancing our commitment to become a more representative and inclusive organization. 
The OSFI Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Strategy 2022-25 was launched in March 2022 
and includes a comprehensive action plan and performance measurement framework to 
support its implementation. In addition, we launched a self-identification campaign and 
our first-ever Inclusion Award, which recognizes contributions to a healthy, inclusive, and 
respectful environment that supports diversity of thought and promotes a psychologically 
safe workplace.

•  Continued support for leadership development. We launched two new programs, a 
Leadership Development program for Aspiring and New Directors and the OSFI Leaders’ 
Program for senior leaders. We also held a virtual Senior Leaders Workshop focused on 
creating a psychologically safe workplace that brought more than 60 senior leaders together.

•  OSFI’s updated Leadership Competency Model (LCM), which is a cornerstone of our 
culture transformation. The updates reflect the emerging skillsets and behaviours that 
are considered most important for being effective leaders at OSFI. We use the LCM to 
effectively identify, develop, evaluate, retain, and promote employees at all levels in our 
organization.

•  Increased accessibility to language training and the development of a new Directive on 
Official Languages for Workplace Communications.
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Ensuring our preparedness for FRFI crises
In 2021-22, we continued to build on crisis management processes, tools and strategies 
developed the previous year. This has strengthened our ability to manage crises in an effective 
and agile way and supports operational readiness.

Building on recent experiences and lessons learned from inter-agency tabletop exercises and 
the COVID-19 pandemic, 2021-22 key achievements included:

•  Development of an updated crisis preparedness framework and strategy, including a refined 
crisis communication strategy and updated operational playbooks

•  Development and delivery of a training program for staff to ensure operational readiness for 
a one-office response to a FRFI crisis 

•  Finalization of standing emergency contract processes to be ready to operationalize the 
contracts effectively and efficiently in a time of crisis

Implementing our enterprise Data Strategy
We have been implementing our multi-year enterprise Data Strategy, strengthening data 
management, data governance, and advanced analytic capabilities. The Data Strategy has 
modernized data management and enabled internal and external strategic collaboration. 
Initiatives under the strategy are implemented in close collaboration with key internal 
technology and business partners to drive adoption and increase overall data literacy across 
OSFI.

The importance of timely and accurate data was heightened throughout the pandemic and 
continued to be an area of focus. In 2021-22, the Data Strategy transformed the way our 
supervisors work with, and derive value from, the data we collect. Key achievements included: 

•  The continued build-out of data and analytics resources to expand internal capabilities in 
four key areas: Data Collection, Data Management and Transformation, Data Engineering 
and Analytics, Advanced Analytics and Data Governance

•  Acquisition of new enterprise tools to modernize business intelligence reporting, 
data workflow automation, data quality assessments and advanced analytics sandbox 
environments

•  Enhanced agility of data governance processes

•  Expanded training and knowledge to further develop data literacy skills across OSFI

Advancing our Cloud Strategy, IM/IT Strategy and digital
We continued to evolve and deliver on our Cloud Strategy and Information Management/
Information Technology (IM/IT) Strategy with a digital focus. A successful migration to the 
Cloud continued to be a key priority. Microsoft 365 Office applications were rolled out to 
all staff and collaboration tools were adopted, strengthening our remote work posture. Key 
achievements in 2021-22 include:

•  Development of five micro-strategies to respond to emerging requirements for collaboration 
tools, case management technology, cyber security, and the OSFI Data Strategy

•  Launch of multiple new technology services and use cases of OSFI’s Technology Exploration 
Space (TES), enabling data science research and experimentation with new cloud-based 
capabilities, including machine learning and artificial intelligence

•  Rollout of cloud-based productivity applications (Word, Excel, PowerPoint) and 
enhancement of end-user mobility tools. These were accompanied by electronic signature 
capabilities, the automation of secure internal network access for remote workers and the 
introduction of biometric authentication to enhance enterprise single sign on capabilities

•  Implementation of an Organizational Change Management strategy and program to better 
support employees in the adoption and use of newly deployed cloud technology

•  Support of PIVOT, our hybrid working model and office modernization program, 
through the deployment of new onsite collaboration and meeting technologies, such as 
videoconferencing equipment

•  Development of a Cloud Information Governance Strategy in support of the migration of 
document management systems to the cloud

•  Reorganization of application development resources around an agile software development 
and IT operations (DevOps) model, where dedicated program teams focused on supporting 
specific business units, enabling a modern and responsive delivery organization  

•  Launch of mandatory cyber security training to standardize and improve our security 
posture relative to new cloud-based and hybrid work models

•  Design of IM/IT risk dashboards and indicators to consistently articulate IM/IT’s risk 
landscape and enable better governance decision-making

Improving our agility and resilience
In 2021-22, we continued to demonstrate our ability to remain flexible, adapt to the modern 
workplace and ways of working, and thrive in new circumstances. We also celebrated OSFI 
being named for the second consecutive time, one of the National Capital Region’s top 
employers.

Employees at home and in the office
We continued to support our employees – the vast majority of whom currently work 
remotely – through flexible work arrangements that considered mental and physical well-
being while maintaining business operations. In 2021-22, we continued the virtual delivery 
of our human resources services, including recruitment and onboarding of new employees, 
learning and development, leadership development, awards and recognition, and performance 
management.

Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic waves in 2021-22, we supported all employees who 
were working from home and ensured those performing essential functions onsite were 
equipped to do their jobs safely.
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Government-wide vaccination policy
Following the Government of Canada’s August 2021 announcement of its intent to require 
COVID-19 vaccination across the federal public service, we led the development and 
successful implementation of OSFI’s Policy on COVID-19 Vaccination, two accompanying 
frameworks, and an IT solution that enabled employees to attest to their vaccination status.

Hybrid Workplace: PIVOT 
Our integrated approach to our hybrid working model and office modernization, OSFI’s PIVOT 
program, continued to gain momentum through grass roots employee engagement and the 
development of a clearer view of OSFI’s workplace of the future. Key achievements in 2021-
22, include:

•  Held leadership focus groups and union engagement to support the establishment of hybrid 
workplace principles. 

•  Successfully opened our offices and workspaces for those who wished to work onsite on a 
voluntary basis. We equipped employees with a full work-from-office guide to help ease this 
transition. 

•  Started developing floor plans for our future space. The team piloted Government of Canada 
coworking and activity-based working concepts, and equipped offices in an “interim state” 
capacity until the 2024 target implementation date.

•  Transitioned our Vancouver office to an interim space and designed the new space as our 
PIVOT pilot project.

•  Started developing a flexible Hybrid Work Model Playbook. The playbook sets out guiding 
principles, an operating model, organizational parameters, and the desired mindsets and 
behaviors for our new hybrid work environment.
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Goal 4 - Support from Canadians and cooperation from the financial 
industry are preserved

This section describes the steps taken in 2021-22 to strengthen Canadians’ trust in the safety 
and soundness of financial institutions and pension plans.

Expanding stakeholder outreach
We expanded outreach to external stakeholders to increase understanding of key risk issues, 
share OSFI’s role and perspective, and provide training and understanding of issues faced by 
regulated entities.

Domestic work with partners
We work with our Canadian partners to share information on matters relating to the 
supervision of FRFIs and ensure the effective oversight of Canada’s financial system. We also 
participate in committees of other financial and oversight bodies to learn from and provide 
input into their work. 

Oversight of Canada’s Financial System
We report to Parliament through the Minister of Finance and work closely with federal 
partners, including the Department of Finance, the Bank of Canada, the Canada 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (CDIC) and the Financial Consumer Agency of Canada. 
We also work with the FINTRAC and consult with provincial counterparts and industry 
stakeholders. In 2021-22, we continued to hold regular meetings with our partners and 
industry stakeholders. We also participated in crisis management meetings with the 
CDIC to assess institutional preparedness. 

Canadian Association of Pension Supervisory Authorities 
OSFI is a member of CAPSA, a national association of pension regulators with a mission 
to facilitate an efficient and effective pension regulatory system in Canada. As a result 
of a collaboration between OSFI and the Financial Services Regulatory Authority of 
Ontario (FSRA), and with the guidance of a Technical Advisory Committee, a plain-
language, member-focused guide for defined contribution (DC) pension plans was 
developed. This guide, titled Defined Contribution Pension Plans: Did You Know?, was 
endorsed by CAPSA and published on its website in October 2021. The guide provides 
retirement basics, key information on DC plans, and information about how to obtain 
good retirement outcomes through membership in a DC plan.

Other committees and outreach
We actively participate in domestic standard-setting and oversight bodies related 
to Canadian auditing and accounting standards. In 2021, we joined as an observer 
the Independent Review Committee on Standard Setting Canada. We helped review 
the governance and structure for establishing Canadian accounting, auditing, and 
assurance standards, as well as sustainability standards for the future.
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In October 2021, we co-hosted a virtual meeting on audit quality with the Canadian Public 
Accountability Board and the Canadian Securities Administrators. The forum allowed us to 
discuss ways to contribute to public confidence in external audit quality in Canada.

International work with partners
OSFI has earned a strong international reputation through our active participation with 
international organizations. This allows us to share the Canadian perspective and help shape 
new international regulatory and supervisory rules and accounting and actuarial standards 
that are fit for purpose for the Canadian financial system.

Financial Stability Board
Canadian representation on the FSB includes the Department of Finance, the Bank 
of Canada and OSFI. During 2021-22, our role included membership on the FSB 
Plenary, Steering Committee, and Standing Committee on Supervisory and Regulatory 
Cooperation, as well as: 
•  Helping coordinate the global response to the COVID-19 pandemic, including the 

unwinding of temporary measures
•  Co-leading the Working Group on Climate Risk, leading to the publication 

 of the interim FSB Report on Supervisory and Regulatory Approaches to  
Climate-related Risks

•  Building on a stock-take of financial authorities’ experience with climate risk inclusion 
in their financial stability monitoring

•  Publishing a report on the Assessment of Risks to Financial Stability from  
Crypto-assets

•  Publishing a progress report on the Regulation, Supervision and Oversight of “Global 
Stablecoin” Arrangements

•  Working with other jurisdictions in advancing reform around major interest rate 
benchmarks and the transition away from London InterBank Offered Rate

•  Publishing a biennial report on compensation practices including the use of non-
financial measures and participating in a workshop panel led by the Compensation 
Monitoring Contact Group 

•  Working with standard-setting bodies to finalize and operationalize the 
implementation of G20 post-crisis financial sector reforms in insurance and  
resolution regimes

•  Chairing the FSB’s Roundtable on External Audit

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision
We are an active member of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS), 
which provides a forum for international rulemaking and cooperation on banking 
supervisory matters. We worked closely with the BCBS on several important 
initiatives related to the three main areas of focus of their 2021-22 work programme: 
i) COVID-19 resilience and recovery; ii) horizon scanning, analysis of structural trends 
and mitigation of risks; and iii) strengthening supervisory coordination and practices. 

Specifically in 2021-22, we:
•  Actively participated in BCBS discussions and information-gathering exercises to 

better understand the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the global banking 
system

•  Continued to co-chair the Supervisory Cooperation Group, which aims to strengthen 
supervision of banks worldwide and promote strong and effective supervisory 
cooperation on cross-border banking issues

•  Continued to co-chair the Credit Risk and Large Exposures Group, a technical 
working group that provides analysis and policy recommendations related to 
international credit risk and large exposure frameworks

•  Continued to participate in the BCBS’s Accounting and Audit Experts Group’s 
(AAEG) monitoring of COVID-19-related accounting and auditing issues, including 
co-chairing the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) Workstream to assess ECL issues 
pertaining to internationally active banks

In May 2021, then OSFI Superintendent Jeremy Rudin chaired the FSB’s Roundtable 
on External Audit. This event brought together senior representatives from FSB 
member authorities, the BCBS, International Organization of Securities Commissions, 
the International Forum of Independent Audit Regulators, as well as regional and 
national audit oversight bodies. The roundtable facilitated dialogue among the official 
sector community to support and coordinate audit-related initiatives and to promote 
financial stability by enhancing public confidence in the quality of external audit.

Colleges of Supervisors and Crisis Management Groups
In 2021-22, we hosted four Colleges of Supervisors sessions, which involve large 
banks and insurers as well as international regulators. We also conducted quarterly 
conference calls with international regulators to identify potential issues in their 
jurisdiction before they manifest and attended the colleges of companies with 
significant operations in Canada. 

In addition, we participated in several Crisis Management Group (CMG) meetings 
for the two Globally Systemically Important Banks (G-SIBs) and attended the CMGs 
of foreign G-SIBs with significant operations in Canada. In December 2021, the 
Co-operation Agreement for recovery and resolution planning between home and 
relevant host authorities was executed for Canada’s first G-SIB.

Actuarial events and presentations
The OCA hosted and presented work for domestic and international stakeholders. In 2021-22, 
a Virtual Seminar on Demographic, Economic, and Investment Perspectives for Canada was 
held to consult with experts in the fields of demography, economics, and investments before 
setting the assumptions for the CPP actuarial report. The Chief Actuary and OCA staff also 
presented at the International Social Security Association’s 20th International Conference of 
Social Security Actuaries, Statisticians, and Investment Specialists.
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Assessing implications of digital innovation through work with partners
We are working with partners to assess the implications of digital money innovations like 
cryptocurrencies on our regulatory frameworks. In 2021-22, we worked with the Department 
of Finance and other federal partners on the development of a Government of Canada-
endorsed data mobility framework to address the rise of open banking and other consumer-
directed finance arrangements. We are also considering ways to facilitate entry into the 
regulated federal financial system by non-traditional financial services providers.

We also reviewed the extent to which stablecoin activities that FRFIs might wish to pursue are 
permissible under the relevant federal legislation and ensure appropriate federal prudential 
oversight. We are working closely with our federal and provincial partners to ensure an 
appropriate and coordinated Canadian regulatory response to stablecoin arrangements.

Increasing our transparency
In 2021-22, we continued to promote transparency and understanding of what we do through 
a variety of means, including by increasing the number of speaking engagements by OSFI 
executives, publishing changes such as the DSB and MQR (under Guideline B-20), publicly 
releasing our Blueprint, new Strategic Plan and Annual Risk Outlook, and increasing our 
social media presence on Twitter, LinkedIn and YouTube. We also made improvements to our 
forward-looking agenda on policy priorities.

Annual Risk Outlook
In 2021-22, OSFI developed its first Annual Risk Outlook, which provides details of the risks 
facing Canada’s financial system, such as cyber attacks, digital innovation, housing-related 
considerations, climate change, and more. The 2022-2023 Annual Risk Outlook was released 
in April 2022 and includes OSFI’s plans to address the risks in the coming year.

Forward-looking agenda on policy priorities
The activities listed in our updated forward policy plans are relevant to our mandate and the 
institutions we oversee. They are responsive to risks in an uncertain environment and realistic 
in both timing and substance to ensure our regulatory framework remains fit for purpose.

Following the suspension of policy initiatives on March 13, 2020, we took a prudent and 
risk-focused approach to relaunching our policy development work. By September 2020, it 
was clear that prudential policy development work needed to continue and be adapted to 
the new normal. At that time, we issued our first near-term plan to provide the industry and 
stakeholders clarity on our policy direction through to June 2021. At the end of June 2021, we 
had delivered on 80% of that plan. 

In May 2021, we released our prudential policy priorities for the next year. This plan built on 
lessons and work throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, setting clear priorities and timelines to 
develop policies and guidance that support the continued resilience of FRFIs and FRPPs.

Contributing to a financially sound and sustainable system through our actuarial work 
In 2021-22, the OCA tabled several actuarial reports, contributing to a financially sound and 
sustainable system. The following are highlights on select reports.

The 17 Actuarial Report on the Old Age Security Program
The 17 Actuarial Report supplementing the Actuarial Report on the OAS program as at 
31 December 2018 was tabled in Parliament in February 2022. It provides information on 
the OAS program’s future expenditures until 2060. This information facilitates a better 
understanding of the program and the factors that influence its costs. The 17 Actuarial Report 
has been prepared to show the effect of increasing the OAS pension payable to individuals 
aged 75 or older by 10% as of July 1, 2022, on the long-term financial status of the OAS 
program. The projected number of OAS pensioners who will benefit from the increase is 3.2 
million in 2022 and is expected to grow to 3.8 million by 2026.

Public-Sector Pension and Benefit Plans
In 2021-22, the OCA tabled in Parliament three actuarial reports on public sector insurance 
and pension plans:

•  The Actuarial Report on the Pension Plan for the Public Service of Canada as at  
31 March 2020

•  The Actuarial Report on the Public Service Death Benefit Account as at 31 March 2020

•  The Actuarial Report on the Benefit Plan Financed Through the Royal Canadian Mounted 
Police (Dependents) Pension Fund, as at 31 March 2019

These reports provide actuarial information to decision-makers, parliamentarians, and the 
public, thereby increasing transparency and confidence in Canada’s retirement income system. 
Most importantly, the Actuarial Report on the Pension Plan for the Public Service of Canada 
provides advice to the Government of Canada for setting pension employee contribution rates 
for federal public servants, and members of the Canadian Armed Forces (Regular Force) and 
the Royal Canadian Mounted Police. These reports also reflect the expected impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on the economic assumptions. 

Actuarial Report on the Employment Insurance program – premium rate
In December 2021, the OCA tabled in Parliament the Canada Employment Insurance 
Commission the 2022 Actuarial Report on the Employment Insurance Premium Rate.  
The report provides the forecast breakeven premium rate for the upcoming year and  
a detailed analysis.

https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Documents/WET5/ARO/eng/2022/aro.html
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The 2021-22 fiscal year marked the final year of our 2019-22 Strategic Plan. Over the course 
of that plan, dynamic new risks like the digitalization of money and climate change, combined 
with the challenges brought on by an unexpected global pandemic, illustrated the need for 
strong financial regulation in Canada.

In June 2021, Peter Routledge assumed the role of Superintendent, succeeding Jeremy Rudin. 
With a new Superintendent at the helm and a renewed appreciation of our risk environment, 
we engaged in strategic exercises to adapt for the years ahead.

In December 2021, we released our aspirational Blueprint for Transformation, 2022-25, which 
will guide our overall direction. It sets the foundation for how we intend to go about preparing 
for fundamental changes in our risk environment and consists of three foundational elements 
and six transformative initiatives. The foundational elements are:

•  refocusing the delivery of our mandate to place greater emphasis on contributing to public 
confidence in the Canadian financial system; 

•  expanding our risk appetite and risk practices; 

•  and further embedding our corporate values to create a culture where everyone can flourish.

The transformative initiatives are:

• culture initiatives

• risk, strategy and governance

• strategic stakeholder and partner engagement

• policy innovation

• supervisory framework

• data management and analytics

The work started by the Blueprint continued through the remainder of 2021-22, culminating in 
the release of OSFI’s 2022-25 Strategic Plan in April 2022. This new Strategic Plan, developed 
by a group of OSFI senior leaders, sets out the concrete actions we will take to implement  
the Blueprint. 

With the Blueprint and accompanying Strategic Plan in hand, we announced in March 2022 
changes to our organizational structure to better align with the new strategy. This new 
structure, which involved significant planning and numerous staffing actions, will position OSFI 
to fulfill its mandate, contributing to confidence in Canada’s financial system.

“OSFI has an impressive record of 
accomplishment in helping to keep Canada’s 

financial system resilient. To sustain that 
record of service, we must be prepared and 

well positioned to not only react, but also adapt 
urgently to an [intensifying] risk environment.”

Peter Routledge, Superintendent

LOOKING AHEAD

https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/osfi-bsif/rep-rap/Pages/bl-pd.aspx
https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Documents/WET5/SP/eng/2022/index.html
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We promote effective disclosure by publishing select financial information on our 
external website, providing guidance to federally regulated financial institutions 
(FRFIs) on their disclosures to the public, and participating in international supervisory 
groups with similar objectives. 

Public Disclosures Associated with Maintaining Financial Stability

Public disclosure of risk management practices and risk exposures made by FRFIs are 
paramount to maintaining financial stability and market confidence. Over the past 
several years, publications released by international organizations such as the FSB and 
the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS) have stressed the need for clear, 
comprehensive, and meaningful risk disclosures. We believe that strong disclosures 
and market discipline are key elements of effective corporate governance and sound 
risk management practices within an institution.

In January 2022, we issued final guidelines on Pillar 3 Disclosure Requirements for 
Canadian D-SIBs and Pillar 3 Disclosure Requirements for SMSBs. 

In 2021-22, we participated as a member of the FSB’s Work Stream on Climate 
Disclosures, which reported to the G20 Finance Ministers and Central Bank Governors 
on promoting globally comparable, high-quality, auditable standards of climate-related 
financial disclosures.

We carried out stakeholder engagement efforts regarding progress on FRFIs’ climate-
related financial risk disclosures to help inform our future guidance in this area.

We are committed to continuing to improve public disclosures to promote safety 
and soundness in the way institutions conduct business, and to contribute to public 
confidence in the Canadian financial system. We will continue to support disclosure 
initiatives through our membership in international associations and by reviewing our 
domestic disclosure requirements and practices.
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OSFI’s Financial Review and Highlights

We are funded mainly through assessments on the financial institutions and private pension 
plans that we regulate and a user-pay program for legislative approvals and other select 
services. 

The amount charged to individual institutions is set out in regulations for our main activities:

• risk assessment and intervention (supervision);

• approvals and precedents; and 

• regulation and guidance. 

In general, our system is designed to allocate costs based on the approximate amount of 
time spent supervising and regulating each industry. Costs are then assessed to individual 
institutions within an industry based on the applicable formula for the industry and the size 
of the institution. Staged institutions are assessed a surcharge on their base assessment, 
approximating the extra supervision resources required. 

In addition to yearly reporting of our financial statements through this report, we publish 
quarterly financial statements.

We also receive revenues for cost-recovered services. These include revenues from federal 
Crown corporations such as the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC), 
which OSFI supervises under the National Housing Act, provinces for which OSFI provides 
supervision of their institutions on contract, and revenues from other federal organizations to 
which OSFI provides administrative services. 

We collect administrative monetary penalties from financial institutions when they contravene 
a provision of a financial institutions Act and are charged in accordance with the Administrative 
Monetary Penalties (OSFI) Regulations. These penalties are collected and remitted to the 
Consolidated Revenue Fund. By regulation, OSFI cannot use these funds to reduce the overall 
assessment costs for the industries it regulates. 

The Office of the Chief Actuary (OCA) is funded by fees charged for actuarial valuation and 
advisory services relating to the Canada Pension Plan, the Old Age Security program, the 
Canada Student Loans Program and various public sector pension and insurance plans, and by 
a parliamentary appropriation. 

2021-2022 Financial Overview

Our financial statements for the 2021-22 fiscal year can be found in Annex A.

Our total costs were $212.5 million, an $11.2 million or 5.6% increase from the previous 
year.  Personnel costs, OSFI’s largest expense, rose by $9.2 million, or 5.8%. This variance 
reflects an increase in the number of full-time equivalent employees, and normal economic 
and merit increases. Machinery and equipment costs increased by $1.1 million or 68.3% 
due to computer equipment (laptops and peripherals); the pandemic delayed/slowed down 
the replacement of some equipment last year, resulting in more cost this year. Professional 
services costs increased by $0.5 million or 2.6% because of new and expanded initiatives such 
as the transition to the Cloud and Diversity Equity and Inclusion (DEI). Rental costs increased 
by $0.4 million or 3.0% because of increased software licensing fees related to planned growth 
in headcount. All other costs, in total, remained stable.

OSFI’s full-time equivalent employees in 2021-2022 was 920, a 6.1% increase from the 
previous year due to staffing actions (e.g., vacant positions and new positions tied to strategic 
initiatives such as Cloud and DEI initiatives) and lower than anticipated turnover rates. 

Federally Regulated Financial Institutions 

Revenues
Total revenues from federally regulated financial institutions were $193.5 million, an increase 
of $9.8 million or 5.3% from the previous year. Base assessments on financial institutions, 
which are recorded at an amount necessary to balance revenue and expenses after all other 
sources of revenue are taken into account, increased by $10.9 million or 6.0% from the 
previous year.  

Revenue from user fees and charges decreased by $0.8 million or 52.3% because of a 
reduction in surcharge assessments.

Costs 
Total costs attributed to federally regulated financial institutions were $193.5 million, an 
increase of $9.8 million or 5.3% from the previous year. The increase is primarily due to higher 
personnel costs ($8.6 million), and higher machinery and equipment costs ($1.1 million), as 
explained above.  

Base Assessments by Industry 
Base assessments are the costs allocated to an industry, less user fees and charges and cost-
recovered services revenues. Base assessments are differentiated to reflect the share of 
OSFI’s costs allocated to each industry group. The chart below compares the cumulative 
growth of base assessments by industry group over the past five years, using 2016-2017 as 
the base year (see chart on next page).
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The overall growth in assessments from 2016-2017 to 2021-2022 primarily reflects the 
growth in full time equivalent employees to deliver on OSFI’s vision and strategic priorities. In 
2018-2019, investments to implement a comprehensive human capital strategy, modernize 
OSFI’s supervisory processes, practices and tools, and execute a cyber-security strategy and 
its associated action plan increased base assessments across all industries.

In 2019-2020 through 2021-2022, we made investments in additional employees, supervisory 
tools and supporting resources to implement OSFI’s 2019-2022 three-year Strategic Plan.  
The implementation of the Strategic Plan allowed OSFI to keep pace with the continually 
evolving and increasingly complex environment within which it operates.

•  The rate of growth in the deposit-taking institutions (DTI) industry since 2016-2017 has 
been higher than the overall growth in assessments during the same period because of 
greater resources dedicated to this sector, primarily related to increased time spent on 
mortgage underwriting, the domestic stability buffer, non-financial risks and small and 
medium-sized banks.

•  The rate of growth in the P&C industry was fairly consistent with the overall rate of growth 
at OSFI from 2016-17 through 2020-21. In 2021-22, base assessments grew but at a lower 
rate than the growth in OSFI’s expenses primarily because of a lower utilization of shared 
regulatory and supervisory resources for P&C insurance matters.

•  After completion of the Life Insurance Capital Adequacy Test Guideline (LICAT) in 2015-
2016, the rate of growth in the Life insurance dropped below OSFI’s overall growth rate 
through 2019-2020.  Since 2020-21, the rate of growth in this sector approximates the 
overall OSFI growth rate.

Federally Regulated Private Pension Plans

Assessments 
Our costs to regulate and supervise private pension plans are recovered from an annual 
assessment charged to plans based on their number of beneficiaries. Plans are assessed upon 
applying for registration under the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 (PBSA) and annually 
thereafter. 

The assessment rate is established based on our estimate of current year costs to supervise 
these plans, adjusted for any accumulated excess or shortfall of assessments in the preceding 
years. The estimate is then divided by the anticipated number of assessable beneficiaries 
to arrive at a base fee rate. The rate established for 2021-2022 was $10.00 per assessable 
beneficiary, unchanged from the previous year. Total fees assessed during the fiscal year were 
$7.1 million ($7.1 million in 2020-21) whereas total fees recognized as revenue in 2021-2022 
were $7.4 million (up from $7.2 million in 2020-2021).  The difference between revenue 
recognized and fees assessed gives rise to the drawdown of excess assessments from prior 
years, as discussed below.

The excess or shortfall of assessments in any particular year is amortized over five years in 
accordance with the assessment formula set out in regulations whereby the annual shortfall 
or excess is recovered or returned to the pension plans over a period of five years commencing 
one year from the year in which they were established through an adjustment to the annual 
fee rate. The rate established and published in the Canada Gazette in September 2021 for 
2022-2023 is set at $10.00 per assessable beneficiary, unchanged from 2021-2022.  OSFI 
anticipates that the rate for 2022-2023 will fully recover the estimated annual costs of this 
program; however, variations between actual and estimated costs or plan beneficiaries in any 
particular year will cause an excess or shortfall of assessments. 

 

Costs
The cost of administering the PBSA for 2021-2022 was $7.4 million, an increase of $0.2 million 
or 2.5% from the previous year primarily due to an increase in in the provision for doubtful 
accounts due to slow collection on some pension plan assessments. 

Fiscal Year 2016-2017 2017-2018 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022

Assessments 6,336 5,612 5,612 6,295 7,131 7,093

Costs 7,035 7,193 6,664 6,646 7,175 7,351

Basic fee rate*
per assessable  

beneficiary
9 8 8 9 10 10

* The minimum and maximum annual assessment per plan is derived by multiplying the annual 
assessment by 50 and 20,000 respectively. With an annual assessment of $10.00 per member,  
the minimum annual assessment is $500 and the maximum is $200,000.

Assessments and Costs for Fiscal Years 2016-2017 to 2021-2022  
($000, except Basic Fee Rate)
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Actuarial Valuation and Advisory Services
The OCA is funded by fees charged for actuarial valuation and advisory services and by 
an annual parliamentary appropriation. Total expenses in 2021-22 were $11.6 million, an 
increase of $1.3 million, or 12.5%, from the previous year primarily due to higher personnel 
costs as a result of staffing vacant positions and an increase in associated overhead costs.  

To the Superintendent of Financial Institutions and the Minister  
of Finance

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial 
Institutions (“OSFI”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31, 
2022, and the statements of operations, changes in net financial assets and cash flow for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the 
accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of OSFI as at March 31, 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards (“PSAS”).

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
(“Canadian GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. 
We are independent of OSFI in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the  
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for public sector, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing OSFI’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
OSFI or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with 
governance are responsible for overseeing OSFI’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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Statement of Management Responsibility Including Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting | Ottawa, Canada | June 27, 2022

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying financial statements for 
the year ended March 31, 2022 and all information contained in these statements rests with 
the management of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI). These 
financial statements have been prepared by management using the Government of Canada’s 
accounting policies, which are based on Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Management is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the information in these 
financial statements. Some of the information in the financial statements is based on 
management’s best estimates and judgment, and gives due consideration to materiality. To 
fulfill its accounting and reporting responsibilities, management maintains a set of accounts 
that provides a centralized record of OSFI’s financial transactions. Financial information 
submitted in the preparation of the Public Accounts of Canada, and included in OSFI’s 
Departmental Results Report, is consistent with these financial statements.

Management is also responsible for maintaining an effective system of internal control over 
financial reporting (ICFR) designed to provide reasonable assurance that financial information 
is reliable, that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are properly authorized and 
recorded in accordance with the Financial Administration Act and other applicable legislation, 
regulations, authorities and policies.

Management seeks to ensure the objectivity and integrity of data in its financial statements 
through careful selection, training, and development of qualified staff; through an 
organizational structure that provides appropriate divisions of responsibility; through 
communication programs aimed at ensuring that regulations, policies, standards, and 
managerial authorities are understood throughout OSFI; and through conducting an annual 
assessment of the effectiveness of the system of ICFR.

The system of ICFR is designed to mitigate risks to a reasonable level based on an on-going 
process to identify key risks, to assess effectiveness of associated key controls, and to make 
any necessary adjustments. Under the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer, a risk 
based assessment of the system of ICFR for the year ended March 31, 2022 was completed 
in accordance with the Treasury Board Policy on Financial Management and the results and 
action plans are summarized in the annex. The effectiveness and adequacy of OSFI’s system 
of internal control is reviewed by the internal audit staff, who conduct periodic risk based 
audits of different areas of OSFI’s operations, and by OSFI’s Audit Committee, which oversees 
management’s responsibilities for maintaining adequate control systems and the quality 
of financial reporting, and which reviews and provides advice to the Superintendent on the 
audited financial statements.

Deloitte LLP has audited the financial statements of OSFI and reports on their audit to the 
Minister of Finance. This report does not include an audit opinion on the annual assessment of 
the effectiveness of OSFI’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Peter Routledge, SuperintendentMarc Desautels, Chief Financial Officer

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•    Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•    Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of OSFI’s internal control.

•    Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

•    Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on OSFI’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause OSFI to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•    Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. We communicate with 
those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Licensed Public Accountants

June 27, 2022

Deloitte LLP 100 Queen Street Suite 1600 
Ottawa ON K1P 5T8 Canada 
Tel: 613-236-2442 Fax: 613-236-2195 
www.deloitte.ca

https://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/osfi-bsif/rep-rap/dpr-rmr/Pages/default.aspx
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Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
As at March 31, 2022 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Note(s)
Budget  

2021-22 2022 2021

Regulation and supervision of federally 
regulated financial institutions

Revenue $ 197,201 $ 193,532 $ 183,754

Expenses 197,201 193,532 183,754

Net results before administrative monetary 
penalties - - -

Administrative monetary penalties revenue 8 50 69 45

Administrative monetary penalties revenue 
earned on behalf of the Government (50) (69) (45)

Net results - - -

Regulation and supervision of federally 
regulated private pension plans

Revenue 7,214 7,351 7,175

Expenses 7,214 7,351 7,175

Net results - - -

Actuarial valuation and advisory services

Revenue 10,841 10,374 9,103

Expenses 12,085 11,618 10,329

Net results (1,244) (1,244) (1,226)

Net results from operations before 
government funding

(1,244) (1,244) (1,226)

Government funding 4 1,244 1,244 1,226

Surplus from operations $ - $ - $ -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note(s) 2022 2021

Financial assets

Cash entitlement $64,035 $ 48,015

Trade and other receivables, net 3, 4 10,017 8,766

Accrued base assessments 3 - 5,220

Total financial assets 74, 052 62,001

Financial liabilities

Accrued salaries and benefits 11 40,345 37,477

Trade and other payables 4, 11 5,762 3,017

Unearned base assessments 11 2,514 -

Unearned pension plan assessments 11 575 833

Deferred revenue 77 66

Employee benefits – severance 6 4,609 4,697

Employee benefits – sick leave 6 11,331 10,311

Total financial liabilities 65,213 56,401

Net financial assets 8,839 5,600

Non-financial assets

Tangible capital assets 5 15,093 18,465

Prepaid expenses 1,748 1,615

Total non-financial assets 16,841 20,080

Accumulated surplus 12 $ 25,680 $ 25,680

Contingencies 10

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at March 31, 2022 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Peter Routledge, SuperintendentMarc Desautels, Chief Financial Officer
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Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
As at March 31, 2022 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note(s) 2022 2021

Operating activities

Cash receipts from financial institutions, pension 
plans and other government entities $ 222,564 $ 196,736

Cash paid to suppliers and employees (205,332) (197,160)

Administrative monetary penalties revenue 
remitted to the consolidated revenue fund 8 (69) (45)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 17,163 (469)

Capital activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets 5 (1,143) (4,199)

Net cash used in capital activities (1,143) (4,199)

Net increase (decrease) in cash entitlement 16,020 (4,668)

Cash entitlement, beginning of the year 48,015 52,683

Cash entitlement, end of the year $ 64,035 $ 48,015

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS 
As at March 31, 2022 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note(s)
Budget  

2021-22 2022 2021

Surplus from operations $ - $ - $ -

Tangible capital assets

Acquisition of tangible capital assets 5 (4,812) (1,143) (4,199)

Amortization of tangible capital assets 5 5,350 4,515 4,254

538 3,372 55

Non-financial assets

Change in prepaid expenses - (133) (250)

Increase (decrease) in net financial assets 538 3,239 (195)

Net financial assets, beginning of the year 5,600 5,600 5,795

Net financial assets, end of the year $ 6,138 $ 8,839 $ 5,600
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Revenue and spending authority
Pursuant to Section 17 of the OSFI Act, the Minister of Finance may spend any revenues 
collected under Sections 23 and 23.1 of the OSFI Act to defray the expenses associated with the 
operation of OSFI. The Act also establishes a ceiling or expenses at $40,000 above the amount 
of revenue collected to be drawn from the Consolidated Revenue Fund of Canada (CRF).

OSFI’s revenues comprise assessments, service charges and fees. The expenses against which 
assessments may be charged include those in connection with the administration of the Bank 
Act, the Cooperative Credit Associations Act, the Green Shield Canada Act, the Insurance Companies 
Act, the Protection of Residential Mortgage or Hypothecary Insurance Act and the Trust and Loan 
Companies Act. The formula for the calculation of assessments is included in regulations.

Subsections 23(1.1) and 23(5) of the OSFI Act provide that assessments may be charged for 
the administration of the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 (PBSA, 1985) and the Pooled 
Registered Pension Plans Act. The assessments for the administration of pension plans subject to 
the PBSA are set annually in accordance with the Assessment of Pension Plans Regulations.

Section 23.1 of the OSFI Act provides that the Superintendent may assess against a person 
a prescribed charge (service charge) and applicable disbursements for any service provided 
by or on behalf of the Superintendent for the person’s benefit or the benefit of a group of 
persons of which the person is a member. “Person” includes individuals, corporations, funds, 
unincorporated associations, Her Majesty in Right of Canada or of a province, and a foreign 
government. The service charges are detailed in the regulations.

Pursuant to Section 16 of the OSFI Act, Parliament has provided annual appropriations to 
support the operations of the Office of the Chief Actuary (OCA).

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of OSFI have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Public 
Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) as issued by the Public Sector Accounting Board (PSAB). 
The accounting policies used in the financial statements are based on the PSAS applicable as at 
March 31, 2022. The policies set out below are consistently applied to all periods presented.

The significant accounting policies of OSFI are set out below:

a) Cash entitlement (Cash overdraft)
OSFI does not have its own bank account. The financial transactions of OSFI are processed 
through the CRF. Cash entitlement represents the maximum amount OSFI is entitled to 
withdraw from the CRF without further authority. 

OSFI has a statutory revolving expenditure authority pursuant to Section 17(4) of the OSFI 
Act. This authority establishes a ceiling for expenses at $40,000 above the amount of revenue 
collected to be drawn from the CRF. Drawings on this facility are presented as cash overdraft.

No interest is earned or charged on these amounts.

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended March 31, 2022 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

1. AUTHORITY AND OBJECTIVES

The Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI) was established by the Office 
of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Act (OSFI Act) in 1987. Pursuant to the Financial 
Administration Act (FAA), OSFI is a division of the Government of Canada for the purposes of 
that Act and is listed in schedule I.1 of the Act. The Government of Canada is OSFI’s parent and 
the ultimate controlling party of OSFI.

OSFI regulates and supervises federally regulated financial institutions including banks, 
insurance companies and pension plans. By doing so, it builds public confidence in the 
Canadian financial system and contributes to a marketplace where banks can continue to 
make loans and take deposits, insurance companies can pay policyholders, and pension plans 
can continue to make payments to retirees.

More specifically, OSFI’s mandate is:

Fostering sound risk management and governance practices
OSFI advances a regulatory framework designed to control and manage risk.

Supervision and early intervention
OSFI supervises federally regulated financial institutions and pension plans to determine 
whether they are in sound financial condition and meeting regulatory and supervisory 
requirements. 

OSFI promptly advises financial institutions and pension plans if there are material 
deficiencies, and takes corrective measures or requires that they be taken to expeditiously 
address the situation. 

Environmental scanning linked to safety and soundness of financial institutions
OSFI monitors and evaluates system-wide or sectoral developments that may have a negative 
impact on the financial condition of federally regulated financial institutions.

Taking a balanced approach
OSFI acts to protect the rights and interests of depositors, policyholders, financial institution 
creditors and pension plan beneficiaries while having due regard for the need to allow financial 
institutions to compete effectively and take reasonable risks.

OSFI recognizes that management, boards of directors and pension plan administrators are 
ultimately responsible for risk decisions and that financial institutions can fail and pension 
plans can experience financial difficulties resulting in the loss of benefits.

The Office of the Chief Actuary provides a range of actuarial valuation and advisory services, 
under the Canada Pension Plan Act and the Public Pensions Reporting Act to the Canada Pension 
Plan (CPP) and some federal government departments, including the provision of advice in the 
form of reports tabled in Parliament.
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For financial assets carried at amortized cost, OSFI first assesses whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or 
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If OSFI determines 
that there is objective evidence of impairment for an individual financial asset, it must be 
assessed for impairment either individually, or in a group of financial assets with similar credit 
risk characteristics. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment 
of impairment. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred, the amount 
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not 
yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The impairment assessment must be based on 
the best estimates available in light of past events, current conditions, and taking into account 
all circumstances known at the date of the preparation of the financial statements. If a future 
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the Statement of Operations.

d) Tangible capital assets
Tangible capital assets are stated at historical cost, net of accumulated amortization and/or 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes the costs of replacing parts 
of property and equipment when incurred, if the recognition criteria are met. Repair and 
maintenance costs are recognized in the Statement of Operations as incurred.

Amortization is recorded using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets as follows:

Assets Useful life

Leasehold improvements Lesser of useful life or remaining term of the lease

Furniture and fixtures 7 years

Office equipment 4 years

Informatics hardware 3 to 5 years

Informatics software 5 to 10 years

Internally developed and externally purchased software are capitalized as tangible capital 
assets. Software acquired separately is measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 
internally developed software consists of directly attributable costs necessary to create, 
produce, and prepare the software to be capable of operating in the manner intended by OSFI. 
Amortization of the assets begins when development is complete and the assets are available 
for use. Costs incurred during the pre-development or post-implementation stages are 
expensed in the period incurred. 

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of amortization are reviewed at each 
financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.

b) Financial instruments
The classification of financial instruments at either fair value or amortized cost is determined 
by OSFI at initial recognition and depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired, or liabilities were incurred. All financial instruments are recognized initially at fair 
value. The fair value of financial instruments on initial recognition is based on the transaction 
price, which represents the fair value of the consideration given or received. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, financial instruments are measured based on the accounting treatment 
corresponding to their classification.

Classification Accounting Treatment

Cash 
entitlement

Cash entitlement shall be measured at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of a cash 
entitlement shall be recorded in Net results from operations before 
government funding in OSFI’s Statement of Operations.

Trade 
and other 
receivables 
and Accrued 
base 
assessments

Trade and other receivables and Accrued base assessments are 
non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, Trade and other 
receivables and Accrued base assessments are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment, if any. Any gain, loss or interest income is recorded in 
revenue or expenses depending on the nature of the receivables 
that gave rise to the gain, loss or income.

Financial 
liabilities

Accrued salaries and benefits, Trade and other payables excluding 
employer’s contributions for employee benefit plans, Unearned 
base assessments, and Unearned pension plan assessments are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
Any gain, loss or interest expense is recorded in revenue or 
expenses depending on the nature of the financial liability that 
gave rise to the gain, loss or expense.

c) Impairment of financial assets
OSFI assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets 
is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred 
‘loss event’) and that the loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
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Sick leave
Employees are eligible to accumulate sick leave until retirement or termination. Unused sick 
leave is not eligible for payment on retirement or termination, nor can it be used as vacation. 
All sick leave is an accumulating non-vesting benefit. A liability is recorded for sick leave 
balances expected to be taken in excess of future allotments.

The cost of sick leave as well as the present value of the obligation is determined using an 
actuarial valuation.

g) Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership related to the 
leased property are substantially retained by the lessor shall be accounted for as operating 
leases. OSFI records the costs associated with operating leases in the Statement of Operations 
in the period in which they are incurred. Any lease incentives received from the lessor are 
charged to the Statement of Operations on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

OSFI does not have borrowing authority and therefore cannot enter into lease agreements 
that are classified as leased tangible assets. OSFI has established procedures to review all 
lease agreements and identify if the proposed terms and conditions would result in a transfer 
to OSFI of substantially all the benefits and risks incidental to ownership.

h) Statement of Operations
The format of the Statement of Operations has been designed to show the revenues and 
expenses by each of OSFI’s business lines. It is considered that this format best represents the 
nature of the activities of OSFI.

Expenses have also been disclosed by nature in Note 7 of these financial statements.

i) Revenue recognition
OSFI recognizes revenue so as to recover its expenses. Any amounts that have been billed and 
for which costs have not been incurred are classified as unearned on the Statement of Financial 
Position. Revenue is recorded in the accounting period in which it is earned (service provided) 
whether or not it has been billed or collected. At the end of the period, amounts may have 
been collected in advance of the incurrence of costs or provision of services, or alternatively, 
amounts may not have been collected and are owed to OSFI.

Base assessments – Revenue from federally regulated financial institutions base assessments 
is recognized based on actual costs incurred as services are typically charged based on 
cost recovery and all costs are considered recoverable. Base assessments are typically 
billed annually based on an estimate of the current fiscal year’s operating costs (an interim 
assessment) together with adjustments related to the final accounting of the previous 
year’s assessment for actual costs incurred. Assessments are calculated prior to December 
31 of each year, in accordance with Section 23(1) of the OSFI Act and the Assessment of 
Financial Institutions Regulations, 2017. Differences between billed estimates and actual costs 
incurred at the end of the period are recorded as accrued base assessments or unearned                         
base assessments.

e) Impairment of non-financial assets
OSFI assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that an asset 
may be impaired. When a non-financial asset no longer contributes to OSFI’s ability to provide 
goods and services, or the value of future economic benefits associated with the non-financial 
asset is less than its net book value, the cost of the non-financial  asset is reduced to reflect the 
decline in the asset’s value. Any writedowns are reflected in the Statement of Operations in 
the period the decline is recognized.

OSFI assesses internally developed software not yet in use for impairment on an annual basis.

f) Employee benefits
Short-term benefits are recorded in the Statement of Operations when an employee has 
rendered the service. Unpaid short-term compensated leave that has vested at the reporting 
date is accrued at the reporting date and not discounted. OSFI contributes to the Government 
of Canada sponsored Public Service Health Care Plan and Dental Service Plan for employees. 
These contributions represent the total obligation of OSFI with respect to these plans.

Pension benefits
Substantially all of the employees of OSFI are covered by the Public Service Pension Plan 
(the Plan), a contributory defined benefit plan established through legislation and sponsored 
by the Government of Canada. Contributions are required by both the employees and OSFI 
to cover current service cost. Pursuant to legislation currently in place, OSFI has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions with respect to any past service or funding 
deficiencies of the Plan. Consequently, contributions are recognized as an expense in the year 
when employees have rendered service and represent the total pension obligation of OSFI.

Severance
On termination of employment, employees are entitled to certain benefits provided for under 
their conditions of employment through a severance benefits plan. The cost of these benefits 
is accrued as the employees render their services necessary to earn severance benefits. The 
severance benefits are based upon the final salary of the employee.

The projected accrued benefit obligation is determined using an accrued benefit method which 
incorporates  management’s best estimate of salary, retirement age and discount rate.

Other benefits
The Government of Canada sponsors a variety of other benefit plans from which former 
employees may benefit upon retirement. The Public Service Health Care Plan and the 
Pensioners’ Dental Service Plan are the two major plans available to OSFI retirees. These are 
defined benefit plans sponsored by the Government of Canada. Contributions are required 
by OSFI to cover current service costs. Pursuant to legislation currently in place, OSFI has no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions with respect to any past service 
or funding deficiencies of the Plan. Consequently, contributions are recognized as an expense 
in the year when employees have rendered service and represent the total obligation of OSFI 
with respect to these plans.
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to occur, and a reasonable estimate of the loss can be made, an estimated liability is accrued 
and an expense recorded. If the likelihood is not determinable or an amount cannot be 
reasonably estimated, the contingency is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

l) Budget figures
The 2021-2022 budget is reflected in the Statement of Operations and the Statement of Changes 
in Net Financial Assets as approved by OSFI’s Executive Committee.

m) Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions
The preparation of OSFI’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. However, 
uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability, in which case the impact 
will be recognized in the financial statements of a future fiscal period.

In the process of applying its accounting policies, management has made certain judgments. 
The following specific judgments have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in 
the financial statements:

• Recognition of internally developed software;

• Lease classification;

• Estimated useful lives of tangible capital assets;

• Actuarial assumptions used to value sick leave and severance obligations;

• Likelihood of occurrence for contingent liabilities;

• Estimates for the allowance for doubtful accounts; and,

• Estimates related to accrued salary increases.

Pension plan assessments are earned from registered pension plans. Assessment rates are 
set annually by regulation based on budgeted expenses, pension plan membership and actual 
results from previous years. Pension plan assessments are charged in accordance with Section 
23(1.1) and 23(5) of the OSFI Act. Revenue from pension plan assessments is recognized 
based on actual costs incurred as services are charged based on cost recovery and all costs 
are considered recoverable. Differences between the amounts billed to industry and actual 
costs incurred at the end of the period are recorded as accrued pension plan assessments or 
unearned pension plan assessments.

User fees and charges include revenue earned pursuant to the Charges for Services Provided 
by the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Regulations, 2002 – as amended 
from time to time – in respect of legislative approvals and approvals for supervisory purposes, 
and surcharges assessed to federally regulated financial institutions assigned a “stage” 
rating pursuant to the Guide to Intervention for Federal Financial Institutions. Assessment 
surcharges are charged in accordance with the Assessment of Financial Institutions 
Regulations, 2017. Revenue from user fees and charges is recognized by reference to the stage 
of completion of the service. Percentage of completion is measured based on actual services 
performed to date as a percentage of total services to be completed.

Administrative monetary penalties are penalties levied to financial institutions when they 
contravene a provision of a financial institutions Act and are charged in accordance with the 
Administrative Monetary Penalties (OSFI) Regulations. Penalties levied are not available to 
reduce the net costs that OSFI assesses the industry (i.e., they are non-respendable) and are 
remitted to the CRF when collected. OSFI assesses its Administrative monetary penalties 
revenue against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. OSFI 
has concluded that it is acting as a principal for Administrative monetary penalty revenue. 

Cost-recovered services represent revenue earned from sources other than those listed 
above. These services are provided in accordance with the terms and conditions agreed to by 
the transacting parties. Revenue from costrecovered services is recognized based on actual 
costs incurred, and all costs are considered recoverable. Revenue and the matching expenses 
from cost-recovered services not specifically related to the Regulation and supervision of 
federally regulated pension plans or Actuarial valuation and advisory services are grouped 
with the Regulation and supervision of federally regulated financial institutions on the 
Statement of Operations. This includes costs recovered from other government entities 
such as the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation for OSFI’s supervisory oversight in 
accordance with the National Housing Act.

j) Government funding
Government funding, including parliamentary appropriations, is recognized in the period 
that the appropriation was  authorized, and any eligibility criteria met. Parliamentary 
appropriations for operating purposes are considered to be without stipulations restricting 
their use and are recognized as revenue when the appropriations are authorized.

k) Contingent liabilities
Contingent liabilities are potential liabilities, which may become liabilities when one or more 
future events occur or fail to occur. To the extent that the future event is likely to occur or fail 
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The majority of OSFI's revenue is comprised of assessments which are typically invoiced 
once a year, usually in the second quarter. As a result, trade receivable balances will vary 
significantly during the year and may also vary from year to year depending on the timing of 
the invoicing. 

OSFI records an allowance for doubtful accounts considering the age of an outstanding 
receivable and the likelihood of its collection. An allowance for doubtful accounts is also 
made where collection of the receivable is doubtful  based on information gathered through 
collection efforts. An allowance is reversed once collection of the debt is successful or the 
amount is written off. Impairment losses on trade and other receivables recognized during 
the year ended March 31, 2022 were $656 (Year ended March 31, 2021 - $353). Recoveries 
during the same period totaled $90 (Year ended March 31, 2021 - $28).

A receivable will be considered to be impaired and written off when OSFI is certain 
that collection will not occur and all requirements of the OSFI Act or the Debt Write-Off 
Regulations, 1994 have been met. No amounts were written off during the year ended March 
31, 2022 (Year ended March 31, 2021 - $ Nil). During the period, no interest was earned on 
impaired assets and none of the past due amounts were renegotiated. Those that are neither

past due nor provided for or impaired are considered to be fully collectible. During the 
period, no interest was earned on impaired assets and none of the past due amounts were 
renegotiated. Those that are neither past due nor provided for or impaired are considered to 
be fully collectible. 

The aging of trade receivables was as follows:

Days 
outstanding Current 31-60 61-90 91-120 >120 Total

March 31, 
2022 

$ 1,432 $ 12 $ - $ - $ 6,069 $ 7,513

March 31, 
2021

$ 1,797 $ 7 $ 1,592 $ 496 $ 2,483 $ 6,375

Refer to Note 11 b) for further information on credit risk applicable to OSFI.

Federally 
regulated 
financial 

institutions

Federally 
regulated 

private 
pension 

plans

Actuarial 
valuation 

and 
advisory 
services Other

Total  
March 

31, 2022

Trade receivables $ 5,749 $ 1,520 $ - $ 244 $ 7,513

User fees and charges 282 - - - 282

Cost-recovered services and 
other

- - 1,000 2,430 3,430

Trade and other receivables, 
gross

6,031 1,520 1,000 2,674 11,225

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts

(117) (1091) - - (1,208)

Trade and other receivables, net 5,914 429 1,000 2,674 10,017

Accrued base assessments - - - - -

Total $ 5,914 $ 429 $ 1,000 $ 2,674 $ 10,017

% of Total exposure 59.1 % 4.3 % 10 % 26.7 % 100.0 %

Federally 
regulated 
financial 

institutions

Federally 
regulated 

private 
pension 

plans

Actuarial 
valuation 

and 
advisory 
services Other

Total  
March 

31, 2021

Trade receivables $ 3,649 $ 1,065 $ - $ 1,661 $ 6,375

User fees and charges 1,039 - - - 1,039

Cost-recovered services and 
other

- - 116 1,878 1,994

Trade and other receivables, 
gross

4,688 1,065 116 3,539 9,408

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts

(55) (587) - - (642)

Trade and other receivables, net 4,633 478 116 3,539 8,766

Accrued base assessments 5,220 - - - 5,220

Total $ 9,853 $ 478 $ 116 $ 3,539 $ 13,986

% of Total exposure 70.5 % 3.4 % 0.8 % 25.3 % 100.0 %

3. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The breakdown of all amounts owing to OSFI, by type, is as follows:
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5. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

March 31, 2022 

Cost

March 31, 

2021 Acquisitions

Transfer to 

 "in use" Disposals

March 31, 

2022

Leasehold improvements $ 17,505 $ 301 $ - $ (336) $ 17,470

Furniture and fixtures 2,107 - - (331) 1,776

Office equipment 2,409 28 - - 2,437

Informatics hardware 6,573 789 - - 7,362

Externally purchased software 722 25 - - 747

Internally developed software 30,412 - - - 30,412

Total $ 59,728 $ 1,143 - $   $ (667) $ 60,204

Accumulated amortization

March 31, 

2021 Amortization Disposals

March 31, 

2022

Leasehold improvements $ 14,900 $ 566 $ - $ (336) $ 15,130

Furniture and fixtures 2,035 51 - (331) 1,755

Office equipment 1,818 278 - - 2,096

Informatics hardware 4,531 1,218 - - 5,749

Externally purchased software 410 108 - - 518

Internally developed software 17,569 2,294 - - 19,863

Total $ 41,263 $ 4,515 - $ $ (667) $ 45,111

Net book value $ 18,465 - $ - $ - $ $ 15,093 

March 31, 2021 

Cost

March 31, 

2020 Amortization

Transfer to 

 "in use" Disposals

March 31, 

2021

Leasehold improvements $ 17,255 $ 250 $ - $ - $ 17,505

Furniture and fixtures 2,107 - - - 2,107

Office equipment 2,307 102 - - 2,409

Informatics hardware 6,211 492 - (130) 6,573

Externally purchased software 613 109 - - 722

Internally developed software 25,520 - 4,892 - 30,412

Internally developed software 
under development

1,646 3,246 (4,892) - -

Total $ 55,659 $ 4,199 - $   $ (130) $ 59,728

4. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

OSFI is related, in terms of common ownership, to all Government of Canada departments, 
agencies and crown corporations.  OSFI enters into transactions with these entities in the 
normal course of business and on normal trade terms.  These transactions are measured at 
the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the 
related parties.

During the year ended March 31, 2022, OSFI purchased goods and services for $48,548  
(2021 - $45,871) and earned revenue of $12,659 (2021 - $11,614) from transactions with 
other government entities.  Although most transactions or groups of similar transactions are 
not individually significant, OSFI did have the following individually significant transactions:

As at March 31, 2022, the amount of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables 
from related parties was $2,744 (March 31, 2021 - $3,240) and $3,707 (March 31, 2021 - 
$4,480), respectively.

OSFI receives an annual parliamentary appropriation pursuant to Section 16 of the OSFI Act 
to support its mandate relating to the OCA.  During the year ended March 31, 2022, OSFI 
was granted $1,244 (2021 - $1,226) which was recognized into net results and shown on the 
Statement of Operations. There are no unfulfilled conditions or stipulations attached to this 
appropriation.

Entity Nature

2022 

Expenditure

2022 

Payable

2021 

Expenditure

2021 

Payable

Treasury Board 

Secretariat

Pension 

contributions, other 

employee benefits 

and other services

$ 32,662 $ 2,760 $ 30,769 $ 3,933

Public Services 

Procurement Canada

Rent and other 

services
$ 12,019 $ 265 $ 11,912 $ 263

Entity Nature

2022  

Revenue

2022 

Receivable

2021 

Revenue

2021 

Receivable

Employment and Social 

Development Canada

Actuarial valuation 

and advisory services
$ 5,253 $ 905 $ 4,972 $ 43
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in 2013 and employees no longer accumulate years of service. OSFI’s remaining liability 
in regards to this plan relates primarily to employees who chose to defer receipt of their 
entitlement until departure. Current service benefit costs relate to the cost of involuntary 
departures.

Information about OSFI’s severance benefit plan is presented in the table below.

The most recent actuarial valuation for severance benefits was completed as at March 31, 
2022. OSFI measures its accrued benefit obligation for accounting purposes as at March 
31 of each year. The significant actuarial assumption adopted in measuring OSFI’s accrued 
benefit obligation is a discount rate of 2.40% (2021 - 1.57%). For measurement purposes, 
management’s best estimate for the general salary increases to estimate the current service 
cost and the accrued benefit obligation as at March 31, 2022 is an annual economic increase 
of 2.5% for the plan year 2023 (2021 - 1.5% for the plan year 2022). Thereafter, an annual 
economic increase of 2.5% is assumed (2021 - 1.5%). The average remaining service period of 
active employees covered by the benefit plan is 14 years (2021 - 13 years).

March 31, 
2022

March 31, 
2021

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of the year $ 5,130 $ 5,518

Current service cost 210 202

Interest cost 79 52

Benefits paid (401) (377)

Actuarial (gain)/loss (116) (265)

Accrued benefit obligation, end of the year1 4,902 5,130

Unamortized net actuarial loss (293) (433)

Accrued benefit liability $ 4,609 $ 4,697

1 The cost corresponding to annual changes in the accrued benefit liability is recovered from OSFI's various sources of 
revenue outlined in Note 2 i) to the financial statements. Amounts collected in excess of benefits paid are presented on the 
Statement of Financial Position  under the heading of Cash entitlement.

Net benefit plan cost - severance
March 31, 

2022
March 31, 

2021

Current service cost $ 210 $ 202

Interest cost 79 52

Amortization of actuarial loss 24 35

Benefit cost $ 313 $ 289

Accumulated amortization

March 31, 

2021 Amortization Disposals

March 31, 

2022

Leasehold improvements $ 14,397 $ 503 $ - $ - $ 14,900

Furniture and fixtures 1,929 106 - - 2,035

Office equipment 1,507 311 - - 1,818

Informatics hardware 3,399 1,262 - (130) 4,531

Externally purchased software 306 104 - - 410

Internally developed software 15,601 1,968 - - 17,569

Total $ 37,139 $ 4,254 - $ $ (130) $ 41,263

Net book value $ 18,520 - $ - $ - $ $ 18,465

None of the assets held have any restriction on title and none of the assets have been pledged 
as security for liabilities. As at March 31, 2022, OSFI had $32,534 of tangible capital assets at 
cost that were fully amortized and still in use. These assets are near the end of their useful life 
and are scheduled to be replaced. Their fair value is insignificant.

6. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

a) Post-employment benefits

i. Pension benefits
Substantially all of the employees of OSFI are covered by the public service pension plan (the 
Plan), a contributory defined benefit plan established through legislation and sponsored by 
the Government of Canada. Contributions are required by both the employees and OSFI. 
The President of the Treasury Board of Canada sets the required employer contributions 
based on a multiple of the employees’ required contribution. The general contribution rate, 
on pensionable earnings, effective as at March 31, 2022 was 9.848% (2021 - 10.339%). Total 
contributions of $13,261 were recognized as expense for the year ended March 31, 2022 
(2021 - $13,117). 

The Government of Canada holds a statutory obligation for the payment of benefits relating 
to the Plan. Pension benefits generally accrue up to a maximum period of 35 years at an annual 
rate of 2 percent of pensionable service times the average of the best five consecutive years 
of earnings. The benefits are coordinated with Canada/QuébecPension Plan benefits and they 
are indexed to inflation.

ii. Severance benefits
OSFI used to administer a severance benefits plan for its employees. On termination of 
employment, eligibleemployees were entitled to certain benefits provided for under their 
conditions of employment based on their years of service. The plan was substantially curtailed 
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7. REVENUE AND EXPENSES BY MAJOR CLASSIFICATION

Budget for the year 
ending March 31, 

2022
March 31, 

2022
March 31, 

2021

Revenue

Base assessments $ 193,031 $191,173 $ 180,307

Cost-recovered services 12,761 11,970 10,952

Pension plan assessments 7,214 7,351 7,175

User fees and charges 2,250 763 1,598

Total revenue earned from respendable sources 215,256 211,257 200,032

Expenses

Personnel 162,769 167,700 158,494

Professional service 24,103 18,155 17,687

Rental 14,976 14,822 14,390

Amortization 5,350 4,515 4,254

Travel 1,579 61 (26)

Machinery and equipment 1,816 2,655 1,578

Information 1,929 1,823 1,728

Communications 1,968 1,169 1,541

Repairs and maintenance 985 892 886

Materials and supplies 277 126 381

Other 748 583 345

Total expenses 216,500 212,501 201,258

Net results of operations before 
government funding and non-respendable 
administrative monetary penalties revenue (1,244) (1,244) (1,226)

Government funding 1,244 1,244 1,226

Administrative monetary penalties revenue 50 69 45

Administrative monetary penalties earned 
on behalf of the government

(50) (69) (45)

Surplus from operations $ - $ - $ -

Full-time equivalent number of employees 910 920 867

b) Other long-term benefits

i. Sick leave
Information about OSFI’s sick leave plan is presented in the table below.

The most recent actuarial valuation for sick leave benefits was completed as at March 31, 
2022. OSFI measures its accrued benefit obligation for accounting purposes as at March 
31 of each year. The significant actuarial assumption adopted in measuring OSFI’s accrued 
benefit obligation is a discount rate of 2.41% (2021 - 1.74%). For measurement purposes, 
management’s best estimate for the general salary increases to estimate the current service 
cost and the accrued benefit obligation as at March 31, 2022 is an annual economic increase 
of 2.5% for the plan year 2023 (2021 - 1.5% for the plan year 2022). Thereafter, an annual 
economic increase of 2.5% is assumed (2021 - 1.5%). The average remaining service period of 
active employees covered by the benefit plan is 14 years (2021 - 13 years).

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of the year $ 11,615 $ 11,289

Current service cost 1,473 1,500

Interest cost 207 142

Benefits used (882) (418)

Actuarial (gain)/loss 1,574 (898)

Accrued benefit obligation, end of the year1 13,987 11,615

Unamortized net actuarial loss (2,656) (1,304)

Accrued benefit liability $ 11,331 $ 10,311

1 The cost corresponding to annual changes in the accrued benefit liability is recovered from OSFI's various sources of 
revenue outlined in Note 2 i) to the financial statements. Amounts collected in excess of benefits paid are presented on the 
Statement of Financial Position under the heading of Cash entitlement.

Net benefit plan expense - sick leave March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Current service cost $ 1,473 $ 1,500

Interest cost 207 142

Amortization of actuarial loss 221 109

Benefit cost $ 1,901 $ 1,751
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The Lease for OSFI’s Ottawa office expires on September 30th 2022. Negotiations with PSPC 
to extend the lease are well underway.

10. CONTINGENCIES

A claim for unspecified damages was lodged against the Government of Canada and its 
constituent entities (including OSFI) during 2020-21. The claim has not advanced to a point 
where the potential outcome or the amount at risk can be determined, as such no provision for 
contingent liabilities has been accrued at the date of these financial statements. In the normal 
course of its operations, OSFI is involved in a limited number of legal claims. Although the final 
result of these claims cannot be determined at this time, management is of the opinion that the 
results will not have a material impact on the financial statements.

11. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OSFI’s financial liabilities include: Accrued salaries and benefits, Trade and other payables, 
Unearned base assessments and Unearned pension plan assessments. These liabilities provide 
short-term financing for OSFI’s operations. Financial assets: include Cash entitlement, 
Trade and other receivables, Accrued base assessments, Accrued pension plan assessments. 
OSFI is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk in connection with its financial 
instruments. OSFI’s risk exposures and its processes to manage these risks did not change 
significantly during the year ended March 31, 2022.

a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity risk. OSFI is exposed to 
currency risk on any amounts payable that are to be settled in a currency other than the 
Canadian dollar but is not exposed to interest rate risk nor to other price risk. Currency 
risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. OSFI’s exposure to the risk of changes in 
foreign exchange rates relates primarily to OSFI’s operating activities (when expenses are 
denominated in a currency other than the Canadian dollar). OSFI manages its exposure to 
currency risk by structuring its contracts in Canadian dollars wherever possible. The majority 
of OSFI’s transactions presented were denominated in Canadian dollars; as such, OSFI’s 
exposure to currency risk for all periods presented is insignificant. 

There is no impact to revenues since all billings are in Canadian dollars.

b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial 
instrument, resulting in a financial loss. The maximum exposure OSFI has to credit risk as at 
March 31, 2022 is $10,017 (March 31, 2021 - $13,986) which is equal to the carrying value of 

Budget for the year 
ending March 31, 

2022
March 31, 

2022
March 31, 

2021

Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries $ 127,847 $129,553 $ 120,630

Other benefits 21,835 24,556 24,376

Post-employment benefits other than 
severance

12,782 13,261 13,117

Severance benefits 248 313 289

Other personnel costs 57 17 82

Total $ 162,769 $ 167,700 $ 158,494

8. ADMINISTRATIVE MONETARY PENALTIES

Administrative monetary penalties levied by OSFI are remitted to the CRF. The funds are not 
available for use by OSFI and are not included in the balance of the Cash entitlement. As a 
result, the penalties do not reduce the amount that OSFI assesses the industry in respect of 
its operating costs. Refer to Note 2 i) for further information on OSFI’s accounting policy as it 
relates to administrative monetary penalty revenue. In the year ended March 31, 2022, OSFI 
levied $69 (2021 - $45) in administrative monetary penalties.

9. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

OSFI has entered into operating lease agreements for office space and office equipment in 
four locations across Canada. The minimum aggregate annual payments for future fiscal years 
are as follows:

March 31, 2023 $ 9,021

March 31, 2024 7,310

March 31, 2025 7,309

March 31, 2026 7,308

March 31, 2027 7,308

Thereafter 21,793

Total $ 60,049
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Unearned pension plan assessments represent the accumulation of in-year surplus or deficit 
against assessments collected. These are in turn paid or collected over a period of five years 
commencing one year from the year in which they were established. OSFI does not charge nor 
pay interest to the various pension plans over the five years.

12. ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

On 

demand

Less than 

3 months

3 to 12 

months

1 to 5 

years

Greater 

than 5 

years

March 31, 

2021 

Total

Accrued salaries & benefits $ 13,099 $ 15,946 $ 11,300 $ -  $ -  $ 40,345

Trade and other payables - 5,762 - - - 5,762

Unearned base assessments - - 2,514 - - 2,514

Unearned pension plan assessments - 35 102 438 - 575

Total $ 13,099 $ 21,743 $ 13,916 $ 438 - $ $ 49,196

On 

demand

Less than 

3 months

3 to 12 

months

1 to 5 

years

Greater 

than 5 

years

March 31, 

2021 Total

Accrued salaries & benefits $ 13,481 $ 13,496 $ 10,500 $ -  $ -  $ 37,477

Trade and other payables - 3,017 - - - 3,017

Unearned pension plan assessments - 53 161 511 108 833

Total $ 13,481 $ 16,566 $ 10,661 $ 511 $ 108 $ 41,327

March 31, 2022 March 31, 2021

Contributed surplus $ 28,327 $ 28,327

Accumulated deficit (2,647) (2,647)

Accumulated surplus $ 25,680 $ 25,680

its Trade and other receivables and Accrued base assessments. All federally regulated financial 
institutions and federally regulated private pension plans are required to register with OSFI 
and pay the assessments as established by OSFI. Any loss incurred by OSFI as a result of a 
counterparty not meeting its obligations is recorded in the year incurred and collected in the 
following year through assessments to the industry to which the balance pertains, as outlined 
in the OSFI Act. All remaining receivables are with other Canadian federal and provincial 
government organizations, where there is minimal potential risk of loss. OSFI doesnot hold 
collateral as security.

c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that OSFI will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated 
with current and future financial liabilities. OSFI’s objective is to maintain sufficient Cash 
entitlement through its collection of base assessments, cost-recovered services and other fees 
and charges in order to meet its operating requirements. OSFI manages liquidity risk through 
detailed annual planning and billing processes that are structured to allow for sufficient 
liquidity from one billing period to the next. OSFI’s objective is to accurately estimate its 
operating costs and cash requirements for the current year and to recover these through its 
interim base assessments, fees and other sources of revenue.

OSFI’s policy is to satisfy liabilities by the following means (in decreasing order of priority):

• Disbursing payments from its Cash entitlement account; and,

• Drawing on its revolving expenditure authority, pursuant to Section 17.4 of the OSFI Act.

Drawings on this facility were $Nil as at March 31, 2022 (March 31, 2021 - $Nil).

Refer to Note 1 for further information on OSFI’s authority and Note 2 a) for further 
information on the accounting policies for its revolving spending authority.

The table on the next page summarizes the maturity profile of OSFI’s financial liabilities as at 
March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 based on contractual undiscounted payments. When the 
counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest 
period in which OSFI can be required to pay. When amounts are due in installments, each 
installment is allocated to the earliest period in which OSFI can be required to pay.
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Annex to the Statement of Management Responsibility including Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting

(Unaudited)

Fiscal Year 2021-2022

1. Introduction

This document provides summary information on the measures taken by the Office of the 
Superintendent of Financial Institutions (OSFI) to maintain an effective system of internal 
control over financial reporting (ICFR) including information on internal control management, 
assessment results and related action plans.

Detailed information on OSFI’s authority, mandate and program activities are available in the 
Departmental Plan and the Departmental Results Report.

2. Departmental system of internal control over financial reporting 

2.1 Internal Control Management
OSFI has a well-established governance and accountability structure to support the 
assessment efforts and oversight of its system of internal control. An internal control 
management framework, approved by the Superintendent, is in place; it includes:

•  Organizational accountability structures as they relate to internal control management 
to support sound financial management, including roles and responsibilities for senior 
managers in their areas of responsibility;

•  Values and ethics;

•  On-going communication and training on statutory requirements, policies and procedures 
for sound financial management and control; and, 

•  Monitoring and regular updates on internal control management, including the provision of 
related assessment results and action plans to the Operating Committee and, as applicable, 
the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee provides advice to the Superintendent on the adequacy and functioning 
of the agency’s risk management, control and governance frameworks and processes.

2.2  Service arrangements relevant to financial statements

2.2.1 Reliance on other federal government organizations
OSFI relies on other organizations for the processing of certain transactions that are recorded 
in its financial statements, as follows. 

OSFI was established on July 2, 1987 by the OSFI Act. OSFI was created through the merger 
of its two predecessoragencies – the Department of Insurance and the Office of the Inspector 
General of Banks. To help fund OSFI’s first year of operations and establish a pool of working 
capital necessary to support its annual assessment and expenditurecycle, OSFI was credited 
with the assessments that recovered the costs of its predecessors for the previous fiscal year. 
This amount is reflected as contributed surplus. The accumulated deficit was created as part 
of OSFI’s transition to accrual accounting under Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) in fiscal 2000-2001. The transition to GAAP accounts for $789 of the 
balance. On April 1, 2010, OSFI transitioned to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) from GAAP which increased the accumulated deficit by $2,170. The accumulated 
deficit as at March 31, 2011 increased by an additional $380 as a result of the operations for 
the year ended March 31, 2011 as determined under IFRS. On April 1, 2017, OSFI ceased to 
report in accordance with IFRS and adopted PSAS. These new standards were adopted with 
retrospective restatement, and therefore the 2017 comparative figures were restated. The 
accumulated deficit at March 31, 2017 decreased by $692 as a result of the restatement of 
operations for the year ended March 31, 2017, leaving a balance of $2,647, which remains 
unchanged as at March 31, 2022.

http://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/osfi-bsif/rep-rap/rpp/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.osfi-bsif.gc.ca/Eng/osfi-bsif/rep-rap/dpr-rmr/Pages/default.aspx
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Monitoring results for 2021-2022 Status

Accounts Receivable - Cash Receipts
Completed as planned and no remedial 
actions required

Procurement and Contracting
Completed as planned and no remedial 
actions required

Month-end/Year-end Accruals
Completed as planned and no remedial 
actions required

Budgeting and Forecasting
Completed as planned and no remedial 
actions required

Payroll
Completed as planned and remedial 
actions identified to be implemented

Revenue – Base Assessments
Completed as planned and remedial 
actions identified to be implemented

Revenue – Pension Plan Assessments
Completed as planned and remedial 
actions identified to be implemented

Revenue – Cost Recovered Service MOU
Completed as planned and remedial 
actions identified to be implemented

IT General Controls 
Completed as planned and no remedial 
actions required

Entity Level Controls (ELCs)
Completed as planned and remedial 
actions required

The key findings and significant adjustments required from the current year’s assessment 
activities are summarized below. 

New or significantly amended key controls – In the current year, there were no significantly 
amended key controls in existing processes that required reassessment. There were only 
minor changes to the design process of three key business processes. W

On-going monitoring program – As part of its ongoing monitoring plan, OSFI completed its 
assessment of the ELCs and the financial controls. 

The evaluation of ELCs, using an updated methodology, was completed and the controls 
operated as intended with remediation actions required. Remediation centered around the 
development of an Enterprise Risk Management function which has been prioritized in OSFI’s 
2022-2025 Strategic Plan.

OSFI completed the assessment of financial controls within the following eight key business 
processes: 

1) Accounts Receivable - Cash receipts, 

2) Procurement & Contracting, 

3) Month-end/Year-end accruals, 

4) Budgeting and Forecasting, 

5) Payroll, 

Common Arrangements
•  Public Services and Procurement Canada (PSPC) administers the payments of salaries, the 

shared travel system (STS), office space arrangement and the procurement of certain types 
of goods and services falling outside OSFI’s contracting delegation of authority. 

•  Shared Services Canada (SSC) administers the procurement of certain goods related to 
information management and information technology falling outside OSFI’s contracting 
delegation of authority.

•  The Department of Justice provides legal services to OSFI.

•  Treasury Board Secretariat (TBS) provides OSFI with information used to calculate various 
accruals, such as employee benefits rate. 

Specific Arrangements
•  TBS provides OSFI with corporate financial systems and system support.  The services relate 

to the support of the SAP financial system platform for capturing all financial transactions 
and the Cognos Business Intelligence Tool for reporting. As the service provider, TBS is 
responsible for ensuring that IT–general controls over the SAP environment are designed 
and operating effectively. As a client, OSFI retains responsibility over certain IT–general 
controls over the SAP environment, such as user access controls and segregation of duties.

Readers of this annex may refer to the annexes of the above-noted departments for a greater 
understanding of the systems of ICFR related to these specific services.

2.2.2 Services that other organizations rely upon

Specific Arrangements
•  OSFI provides financial services for the calculation of assessments revenue to the Financial 

Consumer Agency of Canada (FCAC).The Office of the Chief Actuary (OCA) also provides 
actuarial services to the FCAC.

•  The OCA is an independent unit within OSFI that provides a range of actuarial valuation 
and advisory services to the Government of Canada. The OCA provides appropriate checks 
and balances on the future costs of the different pension plans and social programs that fall 
under its responsibility, including, but not limited to, the Canada Pension Plan (CPP), the Old 
Age Security Program and the Canada Student Financial Assistance Program.

3. OSFI’s assessment results during fiscal year 2021-2022 

The following table summarizes the status of the ongoing monitoring activities according to 
OSFI’s Five-Year Risk Based Plan for the Assessment, Remediation and Ongoing Monitoring of 
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting. The plan covers the five-year period from April 1, 
2021 to March 31, 2026.



Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada | Annual Report 2021-2022 | 80

ANNEX TO THE STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY INCLUDING INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING ANNEX TO THE STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY INCLUDING INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada | Annual Report 2021-2022 | 80 Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions Canada | Annual Report 2021-2022 | 81

Key Control Area 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025

Entity level controls (ELC’s) No No Yes

IT general controls Yes No Yes

Accounts Payable and Payments No Yes No

Accounts Receivable and Cash 
Receipts

No No Yes

Budgeting and Forecasting No Yes No

Procurement & Contracting Yes Yes Yes

Month-end/Quarter-end 
Accruals

Yes Yes Yes

Quarter-end/Year-end Note 
Disclosures

Yes No Yes

Payroll Yes Yes Yes

Revenue – Base Assessments Yes Yes Yes

Revenue – Pension Plan 
Assessments

Yes Yes Yes

Revenue – Cost Recovered 
Services

No Yes No

Revenue – Other Yes No No

6) Revenue – Base Assessments, 

7) Revenue – Pension Plan Assessments and

8) Revenue – Cost recovered Service MOU. 

Overall, the key controls that were tested performed as intended, with some exceptions 
requiring remediation in the revenue and payroll processes, as follows:

•  Appropriate documentation exists to support the reconciliation of revenue against the data 
in the source systems

•  Segregation of duties are exercised between the preparer and reviewer of invoices for cost 
recovered services 

•  Payroll transactions are approved in accordance with the financial and HR delegations 

Management is aware of the remediations required and action plans have been started to 
address them. The exceptions noted were mitigated by compensating controls and the risk of 
material misstatement is low. 

IT General Controls (ITGCs) over the SAP financial system are shared between OSFI and the 
SAP cluster host TBS. OSFI completed the operating effectiveness assessment of controls 
under its responsibility while TBS completed a Reporting on Controls at a Service Organization 
(commonly called the Canadian Standard on Assurance Engagements (CSAE) 3416) audit over 
the design and operating effectiveness of the SAP system, which benefits all members of the 
cluster. As the service provider of the SAP financial system, TBS is responsible for completing 
any remedial actions identified as a result of the CSAE 3416 audit. TBS reports on the findings 
of this audit in its Annex to the Statement of Management Responsibility including Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting. 

4. OSFI’s action plan for the next fiscal year and subsequent years

OSFI’s Five-Year Risk Based Plan for the Assessment, Remediation and Ongoing Monitoring of 
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting covers the on-going monitoring activities for the 
period of April 1, 2021 to March 31, 2026. 

OSFI’s monitoring plan over the next 3 fiscal years is shown in the following table. The ongoing 
monitoring plan is based on:

• an annual validation of high-risk processes and controls

• related adjustments to the ongoing monitoring plan as required
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